# Itinerant Staff Handbook



## **Tuscola Intermediate School District**

August 2023



### Tuscola Intermediate School District **Employee Expectations**

- Be invested/show personal ownership/have commitment to job
- No smoking
- Reliable transportation
- Maintain confidentiality
- 24-hour respond to colleagues or customers
- Give personal attention to the person with whom you are dealing
- Commit to the culture of TISD
- Be flexible and adaptable to changing environment
- Provide quality services
- We are a growth organization staff should grow, too
- Value others/customers
- Be a good listener
- Exceed customer expectations
- Perform expected job duties
- **√** Represent the organization positively at all times
- Maintain a clean, organized, welcoming work environment
- Maintain a professional appearance
- Treat everyone in a courteous, professional manner
- Maintain safety standards at all times
- Support Employee Handbook
- Support Style and Procedures Guide
- No distracting piercings
- Refrain from using personal devices (cell phones, etc.) during work hours
- Arrive to work and meetings on time
- Treat customers with respect and hospitality
- Go the extra mile
- **√** Be loyal to the organization
- Work collaboratively
- Demonstrates honesty and integrity
- Accept feedback for personal improvement
- Take pride in doing a quality job
- Be honest and transparent
- Team player and growth mindset
- Be progressive
- Meet deadlines
- Professionalism
- Address internal issues internally
- Delivery world class customer service

Table of Contents

#### Section I - Introduction

Introduction/Mission Statement and Beliefs	4
CECTION II. Itinayant Dagganaikilitika	
SECTION II – Itinerant Responsibilities	
A. Daily Schedule	5
B. Employee/Student Accident Reporting	5
C. Employee Information	6
D. Student Abuse or Mistreatment Policy	6-7
E. Month End Responsibilities	7
F. Year End Responsibilities	7
G. Ordering Procedures	7
H. Expense Reimbursement	7-8
I. Professional Conduct	
J. Grooming and Attire	8
K. Intoxicants and Drugs	8
L. School Resources	8
M. Personal Business/Conflict of Interest	
N. Student Attendance Reporting	
O. Return-to-Work Requirements	
P. Confidentiality of Educational Records	
Q. Student Files	Ç
R. Inclement Weather Days	9-10
S. Paychecks	
T. School Safety Legislation	10
SECTION III – District Responsibilities	
A. Hepatitis B Vaccination	10
B. Right to Know	
C. Evaluations	
D. Regional Educational Media Center #10 (REMC 10)	
E. Smoking	
F. Copyright Policy	
G. Soliciting	
G. Goldang	
TUSCOLA INTERMEDIATE SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD POLICIES	
Staff Technology Acceptable Use and Safety	13-19
Anti-Harassment.	
Family & Medical Leave of Absence ("FMLA")	
Nondiscrimination & Equal Employment Opportunity	
Student Supervision and Welfare	
Americans with Disabilities Act	
Bullying & Other Aggressive Behavior Toward Students	
APPENDIX	
Guidelines for Supporting Student Behavior: Standards for the Emergency Use of Seclusion and Restraint	53
School Safety Legislation –Arraignment Disclosure Form	54
School Safety Legislation – Conviction Disclosure Form	55

#### INTRODUCTION

This handbook is intended for use by the Tuscola Intermediate School District Itinerant Staff and explains policies and procedures. The information presented herein is not or should not be construed to be in conflict with the negotiated master agreement between the Tuscola Intermediate Education Association and the Tuscola Intermediate School District.

#### A. Mission Statement and Beliefs:

The Tuscola Intermediate School District Itinerant staff will provide competent and timely diagnostic, evaluative, consultative, and instructional services to students, teachers, parents and the community. Through our interventions, students will attain optimal levels of performance in all aspects of their lives.

#### We believe:

- ◆ Family involvement is critical to maximizing student potential.
- ◆ In educating students, parents, and staff in order to empower them to meet the changes and challenges of the future.
- The itinerant role includes serving and acting as an advocate for individual students' rights and needs.

#### ITINERANT RESPONSIBILITIES

#### A. Daily Schedule

- ◆ Staff members are expected to report on all days students are in session. All absences: need to be reported on Skyward/Employee Access for approval by your supervisor. You will be notified by e-mail if your absence has been approved or denied.
- Off-Campus Staff who DO need a sub -
  - Notify WillSub by 7:00 a.m. via the web or by phone.
  - See the link on our TISD webpage under Staff Resources, then WillSub, or call the toll free number 877-945-5782 to record your absence
  - Have to register the first time you use this system, please contact your secretary for instructions
  - First time users must leave a voice signature in WillSub, please contact your secretary
  - If you want to pre-arrange for a sub, contact the sub in advance and get their okay. Then go online (this can't be done via telephone) -Requests - New - Pre-Arranged - Select Sub Teacher (See your secretary if you have questions)
  - Toll free number you may call to talk to a human being for support 800-319-4278
- Itinerants and Off-Campus Staff who DON'T need subs
  - Notify your work-site secretary and supervisor by 8:00 a.m. via phone, text, or voicemail
  - Absence must be entered the same day. Log-in to Skyward/Employee Access on the Tuscola Intermediate School District website.
- ◆ Itinerants should report to work between 7:30 a.m. and 8:30 a.m. consistent with local school district hours of operation.
- ◆ Lunch break should be consistent with local school district schedule. NOTE: Dismissal time is directly linked with time taken for lunch break. Lunch breaks are unpaid time.
- ◆ Dismissal time is between 3:30 p.m. and 4:30 p.m. depending on local school district schedule and length of lunch break.
- ◆ Itinerants work 7 hours per day.
- Weekly Calendar with times: At the beginning of each school year, Itinerants must complete a weekly calendar showing where they will be each day of the week and the beginning and ending time of each day. Any variance from this calendar must have the approval of the immediate supervisor.

#### B. Employee/Student Accident Reporting

When a student or staff is injured, the injury must immediately be reported to the local school district administration for assistance. No injured person should leave the building alone for any reason!

- ◆ An Accident Report Form should be attained from the local school district.
- ◆ Complete and return the form to the local school district administrative office prior to leaving the building on the day of the accident.
- Notify your Tuscola Intermediate School District supervisor of all work related injuries immediately.

#### C. Employee Information

Each employee must keep the following information current within Skyward Employee Access (contact secretary if need assistance):

- Address
- ◆ Phone number
- ◆ Emergency contact/phone number
- Weekly calendar with contact information

Any changes in the information should be reported immediately to your Tuscola Intermediate School District supervisor's secretary.

#### D. Student Abuse or Mistreatment Policy

All Tuscola I.S.D. professional staff members must immediately report all incidents of suspected student abuse or neglect to the appropriate state agency as required by the mandatory reporters law and then to the appropriate administrator. All other staff must immediately report all incidents of suspected student abuse or neglect to the appropriate administrator.

In addition, it is expected that all T.I.S.D. employees follow the highest standard of professional conduct when dealing with students. Any action or behavior considered to constitute mistreatment of a student shall be reported immediately to the appropriate administrator.

#### **Definition of Abuse (Michigan Child Protection Law):**

Child Abuse is harm or threatened harm to a child's health or welfare which occurs through non-accidental injury. It includes harm caused by a parent, legal guardian, teacher or teacher's aide, or any person responsible for the child's welfare that takes the form of:

Physical Injury Mental Injury Maltreatment Sexual abuse or exploitation

#### **Definition of Neglect (Michigan Child Protection Law):**

Child Neglect is harm or threatened harm to a child's health or welfare which occurs through negligent treatment by a parent, legal guardian or any other person responsible for the child's health and welfare. It includes failure to provide a child with adequate:

Food Shelter Clothing Medical Care

In addition, Child Neglect includes placing a child at an unreasonable risk to their health or welfare. Or by failure of parent, guardian, teacher or teacher's aide or any person responsible for the child's welfare or failure to intervene to eliminate such risk to the child.

#### **Definition of Mistreatment:**

Any deliberate action, incident or behavior shall be considered to constitute mistreatment if it is physically or emotionally detrimental to the student's well-being and dignity.

Examples of mistreatment include, but are not limited to the following:

Threatening or physically striking or pushing a student. Ridiculing or demeaning a student.

Speaking rudely or disrespectfully to a student or any similar actions or verbalizations.

#### **Employee Responsibility:**

All employees are responsible for safeguarding students from abuse, neglect and mistreatment. It is the assigned duty and responsibility of any employee who has knowledge of student mistreatment, abuse or neglect to immediately report such knowledge to the appropriate administrator. Failure of an employee to report mistreatment, abuse or neglect to which he/she has knowledge shall be considered grounds for disciplinary action.

#### E. Month End Responsibilities

- Check Illuminate dashboard for overdue IEP's and Re-Evals and IEP's due in the near future and any unpublished IEP's
- ◆ Check that Medicaid Encounters are complete for the month

#### F. Year End Responsibilities

Prior to leaving at the end of each school year, *all itinerants* are responsible to ensure that the following are completed and turned in to their supervisor:

- ◆ Attendance books
- Check Illuminate dashboard for overdue IEP's and Re-Evaluations and complete them
- ◆ Check for unpublished IEP's
- ◆ Check that Medicaid Encounters are complete for the month
- ◆ Time Off Detail Transaction Report (this is done *with* your secretary)
- ◆ The "Actual" calendar of days worked
- Service Summaries
- ◆ Professional Development documentation

#### Also:

- ◆ All student files should be up-to-date.
- ◆ Confirm your inventory of equipment and notify your supervisor's secretary if you have equipment valued over \$500 without an ISD tag; and if there were any <u>changes</u> in your inventory.

#### **G.** Ordering Procedures

All requisitions and orders must be <u>submitted and approved prior to the last work day in April</u> of the current year. Use a separate requisition sheet for each company.

#### H. Expense Reimbursement

Expense reimbursement should be submitted via online Expense Reimbursement in Skyward. Details of travel to/from, date, and mileage must be submitted either as an excel attachment or itemized within the online expense reimbursement.

Expense reimbursement is to be utilized for any staff travel, which requires the use of their private vehicle. Travel between their first workstation at the beginning of the day and other locations through the end of the day are reimbursed. A "workstation" may be interpreted as any place an employee conducts business of the Tuscola Intermediate School District; such as the Tuscola Intermediate School District offices, public schools, private or parochial schools, offices of other governmental agencies, offices of private agencies.

Expense reimbursement should also be utilized for any out-of-town conferences and/or school business, which require reimbursement for mileage, meals, lodging, and other expenses. **Original, detailed** receipts are necessary for reimbursement of all purchased food, room, and public carrier expense. Expenses are to be submitted at the end of each month.

Any purchase of supplies over the current board-approved amount of \$50.00 **must** be pre-approved to be reimbursed. Please see your supervisor for that approval. Reimbursement for supplies purchased should also be reported on the expense report with receipts attached.

The mileage reimbursement rate is negotiable between the Tuscola Intermediate School District Board of Education and the Tuscola Intermediate Education Association. Expense checks will be deposited directly into your bank account.

#### I. Professional Conduct

Tuscola Intermediate School District relies on the Itinerant staff to maintain a professional and businesslike manner during business dealings with LEA staff, parents, and students. Itinerants may also be accountable for behavior outside of work hours if it adversely affects their ability to perform their responsibilities at work or creates the potential to cause harm or discredit Tuscola Intermediate School District.

#### J. Grooming and Attire

Employees are to maintain appropriate grooming and good personal hygiene habits. Such clothing as blue jeans, tank tops, shorts, culottes, and skirts (which are more than one inch above the knee) are not considered as appropriate dress. Apparel should be modest, in good condition, in good taste, and should be appropriate to the type and nature of duties performed by the employee. If there is a question as to the appropriateness of the attire, please consult with your supervisor. Staff working at Off-Campus Section 53 programs should follow the dress code of the building in which they are working.

Jewelry should be worn in moderation. Wearing expensive items is discouraged since TISD cannot assume the responsibility for repair or replacement of such items. Jewelry items, which interfere with the work task or constitute a safety hazard, are not considered appropriate.

#### K. Intoxicants and Drugs

It is expected that all employees shall be free from the influence and/or odor of intoxicants and drugs when reporting for work and during the course of the school day. Additionally, employees shall not have in their possession or consume intoxicants or illegal drugs during the school day or at school sponsored activities or events (i.e. field trips, camp, etc.). In addition, possessing or selling illegal or controlled substances while on the job or in connection with carrying out Tuscola Intermediate School District responsibilities are prohibited.

Any violation of this policy is subject to immediate disciplinary action including dismissal.

#### L. School Resources

Unauthorized use of long distance telephone service, courier service, postal supplies, business supplies and other supplies are prohibited for personal, non-business use.

#### M. Personal Business/Conflict of Interest

Itinerants may not conduct personal business during work hours or use school resources for personal business. All TISD employees shall perform their official duties in a manner free from conflict of interest as defined in attached Board Policy 4201.

#### N. Student Attendance Reporting

Accurate and complete attendance records must be kept on file with the school district for an indefinite period. These records are required by school code and will be used to file periodic state and local reports.

Each itinerant staff member must keep attendance books/contact logs up-to-date.

All itinerants must indicate student absence/presence and be able to prove to auditors/monitors that they met with students as directed in that student's IEP.

#### O. Return-to-Work Requirement

Any employee, who is returning from maternity leave, has had major surgery, has been hospitalized, or has been off for an extended period of time MUST have a doctor's statement indicating the date they are able to return to work and if there are any restrictions upon return. If there are restrictions, the administration will make a decision whether the restrictions will keep them from returning or not, depending on the position and restrictions.

Please be aware that an administrator has the authority to "send home any employee they consider too ill to fulfill their duties satisfactorily."

#### P. Confidentiality of Educational Records

Tuscola Intermediate School District employees are bound by the provisions of the Federal Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). The seriousness of maintaining student confidentiality requires all Itinerant personnel to understand FERPA.

The administrators and supervisors have copies of the FERPA regulations and will be happy to assist in your understanding of information contained throughout this document. All educational professional personnel should become particularly sensitive to policies governing confidential information because of their involvement with highly confidential information. Student information is often shared casually; it should not be interpreted to mean that this information is public knowledge. It is your responsibility to be able to discriminate between information that is confidential and information that is not.

#### Q. Student Files

Itinerant staff must follow the procedures outlined by their LEA regarding accessing student files.

#### R. Inclement Weather Days

The programs operated by Tuscola Intermediate School District shall be considered operating at all times during the school calendar days.

If the school is open and an employee fails to report to work as scheduled due to inclement weather, this day will be charged to the employee's personal business day account. If that account is exhausted, the day will be charged to the employee's sick day account.

Should an employee fail to reach his/her workstation, he/she shall immediately call his/her school or Tuscola Intermediate School District Administrative office.

Staff previously scheduled to report to work at a local school district that is closed due to inclement weather shall not be required to report to that district. If the employee is scheduled to work in more than one site on a given day, the employee will be expected to report to the workstation(s), which are open. Notification of the closing of programs operated by Tuscola Intermediate School District shall be made via radio stations designated by the Superintendent as well as by the district's automated calling system.

#### S. Paychecks

Pay is electronically issued bi-weekly throughout the year, depending on the amount of pays you select.

#### T. School Safety Legislation

"School Safety" legislation (2005 PA 129-131 and 138) enacted into law has an impact on your employment with the school district, requiring all school employees to have a criminal history check conducted by the Michigan State Police and the Federal Bureau of Investigation upon initial employment.

The law also requires you, as an employee of the school district, to self-report to your employer and the Michigan Department of Education when you have been arraigned/charged with certain identified crimes as listed in MCL 380.1539b, and MCL 28.722 (section 2 of the Sex Offenders Registration Act, 1994 PA 295) by completing the <u>Arraignment Disclosure Form</u> (See Appendix, Page 52). (See Appendix under School Safety Legislation, page 27.) You must do so within three business days of arraignment or you will be guilty of an additional crime. If convicted, you must also fill out the <u>Conviction Disclosure Form</u> (See Appendix, Page 53) within 3 business days. These forms can also be found under Employee Forms on the TISD's website.

If you have further questions or concerns, you can contact Stephanie Whiteside, Staff Consultant, Professional Standards and Practices, Michigan Department of Education, Office of Professional Preparation Services. Telephone (517) 335-1167.

#### **DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITIES**

#### A. Hepatitis B Vaccination

Tuscola Intermediate School District shall make the Hepatitis B vaccination series <u>available</u> to all employees who have occupational exposure after the employee(s) has been given information on the Hepatitis B vaccine, including information on its efficacy, safety, method of administration, and the benefits of being vaccinated. The vaccine and vaccinations shall be offered free of charge.

#### B. Right to Know

Right to Know relates to federal legislation designed to promote safe usage of hazardous materials in the work place. The Tuscola Intermediate School District recognized the implications of the federal hazard communications standard and the Michigan Public Act 80 of 1986, which incorporates this standard. This act provides for a detailed system of identifying, categorizing, labeling, and listing potential hazardous substances that employees of the district, in the course of their employment, could be exposed to.

As the employer, Tuscola Intermediate School District is responsible to perform the following:

- ◆ Identify the personnel responsible. The Tuscola Intermediate School District Maintenance Supervisor will coordinate all activities relating to Right to Know.
- Conduct appropriate training programs for employees.
- Ensure that materials safety data sheets are on file for hazardous substances and materials.
- Label hazardous materials in compliance with the standard.

◆ Make available the information on hazardous materials at every work site through the work site administrator.

#### C. Evaluations

All itinerant staff is subject to periodic evaluations as outlined in their respective master agreements.

The Itinerant/Teacher Evaluation Form is designed to help the employee understand the administration's expectations of his/her performance. Formal evaluations will be completed during the first year of employment and every year thereafter. New teachers will be evaluated according to Michigan Tenure Act Regulations.

#### D. Regional Educational Media Center #10 (REMC 10)

REMC 10 is a service agency providing media and materials to all schools in Huron, Sanilac, and Tuscola Counties.

- Some of the services provided include:
  - 1. Streaming video services through United Streaming/Discovery Education
  - 2. Die cuts and lamination available through the teachers corner at both Highland Pines School and Huron Area Tech Center
  - 3. In-services group and individual
  - 4. Production services, which includes electric bookbinding, video, CD & DVD duplication, lamination.
  - 5. Cooperative purchasing including many adaptive and assistive technology devices at a significant discount.
- REMC 10 Contact Information:
  - Director, Robert Frost, Tuscola Technology Center
    - 989-673-2144 x30310, rfrost@tuscolaisd.org
  - Secretary, Jennifer Shelito, Tuscola Technology Center
    - 989-673-5300 x30317, fax 989-673-4228, jshelito@remc10.org
- ◆ Visit www.remc10.org for a complete list of services and details on how to utilize the services.

#### E. Smoking

It is a State law and the policy of the Tuscola Intermediate School District to enforce and adhere to PA 198 of 1986, sometimes referred to as the "Clean Air Act". These guidelines are established to ensure that proper steps are taken to protect the non-smokers in the school community. Smoking is not permitted on the school campus during the day.

The policy of the local school district shall be adhered to.

#### F. Copyright Policy

Reproduction of copyright materials:

1. All employees are expected to adhere to the provisions of the United States Copyright Code and all of its amendments.

- 2. Illegal copies of copyright materials may not be made or used on school equipment or on any other equipment.
- 3. The legal representation and insurance protection of Tuscola Intermediate School District will not be extended to employees who violate copyright laws.
- 4. When computer software is to be used on a disk sharing system, efforts will be made to secure this software from copying.

#### G. Soliciting

Itinerant staff will not solicit funds, materials, or any other donations in the name of Tuscola Intermediate School District without written authorization. Itinerant staff is not to solicit or conduct non-school business during schools hours or in school areas. Itinerants should not borrow the property of any other agency or person in the name of Tuscola Intermediate School District without the written authorization of the Itinerant Supervisor.

# TUSCOLA INTERMEDIATE SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD POLICIES

#### 4215 - STAFF TECHNOLOGY ACCEPTABLE USE AND SAFETY

Technology has fundamentally altered the ways in which information is accessed, communicated, and transferred in society. As a result, educators are continually adapting their means and methods of instruction, and the way they approach student learning, to incorporate the vast, diverse, and unique resources available through the Internet. The Board of Education provides Technology and Information Resources (as defined by Bylaw 0100) to support the educational and professional needs of its staff and students. The Board provides staff with access to the Internet for limited educational purposes only and utilizes online educational services/apps to enhance the instruction delivered to its students and to facilitate the staff's work. The District's computer network and Internet system does not serve as a public access service or a public forum, and the Board imposes reasonable restrictions on its use consistent with its limited educational purpose

The Board regulates the use of District Technology and Information Resources by principles consistent with applicable local, State, and Federal laws, and the District's educational mission. This policy and its related administrative guidelines and any applicable employment contracts and collective bargaining agreements govern the staffs' use of the District's Technology and Information Resources and staff's personal communication devices when they are connected to the District's computer network, Internet connection and/or online educational services/apps, or when used while the staff member is on Board-owned property or at a Board-sponsored activity (see Policy 4216).

Users are required to refrain from actions that are illegal (such as libel, slander, vandalism, harassment, theft, plagiarism, inappropriate access, and the like) or unkind (such as personal attacks, invasion of privacy, injurious comment, and the like). Because its Technology Resources are not unlimited, the Board has also instituted restrictions aimed at preserving these resources, such as placing limits on use of bandwidth, storage space, and printers.

Users have no right or expectation to privacy when using District Technology and Information Resources (including, but not limited to, privacy in the content of their personal files, e-mails, and records of their online activity when using the District's computer network and/or Internet connection).

Staff are expected to utilize District Technology and Information Resources to promote educational excellence in our schools by providing students with the opportunity to develop the resource sharing, innovation, and communication skills and tools that are essential to both life and work. The Board encourages the faculty to develop the appropriate skills necessary to effectively access, analyze, evaluate, and utilize these resources in enriching educational activities. The instructional use of the Internet and online educational services will be guided by Board Policy 4215 – Selection of Instructional Materials and Equipment.

The Internet is a global information and communication network that brings incredible education and information resources to our students. The Internet connects computers and users in the District with computers and users worldwide. Through the Internet, students and staff can access relevant information that will enhance their learning and the education process. Further, District Technology Resources provide students and staff with the opportunity to communicate with other people from throughout the world. Access to such an incredible quantity of information and resources brings with it, however, certain unique challenges and responsibilities.

First, the Board may not be able to technologically limit access through its Technology Resources, to only those services and resources that have been authorized for the purpose of instruction, study and research related to the curriculum. Unlike in the past when educators and community members had the opportunity to review and screen materials to assess their appropriateness for supporting and enriching the curriculum according to adopted guidelines and reasonable selection criteria (taking into account the varied instructional needs, learning styles, abilities, and developmental levels of the students who would be exposed to them), access to the Internet, because it serves as a gateway to any publicly available file server in the world, opens classrooms and students to electronic information resources that may not have been screened by educators for use by students of various ages.

Pursuant to Federal law, the Board has implemented technology protection measures that protect against (e.g., filter or block) access to visual displays/depictions/materials that are obscene, constitute child pornography, and/or are harmful to minors, as defined by the Children's Internet Protection Act. At the discretion of the Board or Superintendent, the technology protection measures may also be configured to protect against access to other material considered inappropriate for students to access. The Board also utilizes software and/or hardware to monitor online activity of staff members to restrict access to child pornography and other material that is obscene, objectionable, inappropriate and/or harmful to minors. The technology protection measures may not be disabled at any time that students may be using the District Technology Resources, if such disabling will cease to protect against access to materials that are prohibited under the Children's Internet Protection Act. Any staff member who attempts to disable the technology protection measures without express written consent of an appropriate administrator will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

The Superintendent or designee may temporarily or permanently unblock access to websites or online educational services/apps containing appropriate material, if access to such sites has been inappropriately blocked by the technology protection measures. The determination of whether material is appropriate or inappropriate shall be based on the content of the material and the intended use of the material, not on the protection actions of the technology protection measures. The Superintendent or designee may also disable the technology protection measures to enable access for bona fide research or other lawful purposes.

Staff members will participate in professional development programs in accordance with the provisions of law and this policy. Training shall include:

- A. the safety and security of students while using e-mail, chat rooms, social media and other forms of direct electronic communications:
- B. the inherent danger of students disclosing personally identifiable information online;
- C. the consequences of unauthorized access (e.g., "hacking," "harvesting," "digital piracy," "data mining," etc.), cyberbullying and other unlawful or inappropriate activities by students or staff online; and
- D. unauthorized disclosure, use, and dissemination of personally identifiable information regarding minors.

Furthermore, staff members shall provide instruction for their students regarding the appropriate use of technology and online safety and security as specified above, and staff members will monitor students' online activities while at school.

Monitoring may include, but is not necessarily limited to, visual observations of online activities during class sessions; or use of specific monitoring tools to review browser history and network, server, and computer logs.

The disclosure of personally identifiable information about students online is prohibited.

Building principals are responsible for providing training so that Internet users under their supervision are knowledgeable about this policy and its accompanying guidelines. The Board expects that staff members will provide guidance and instruction to students in the appropriate use of the District Technology Resources. Such training shall include, but not be limited to, education concerning appropriate online behavior, including interacting with other individuals on social media, including in chat rooms, and cyberbullying awareness and response. All users of District Technology Resources are required to sign a written agreement to abide by the terms and conditions of this policy and its accompanying guidelines.

Staff will be assigned a school email address that they are required to utilize for all school-related electronic communications, including those to students, parents, and other staff members.

Staff members are responsible for good behavior when using District Technology and Information Resources – i.e., behavior comparable to that expected when they are in classrooms, school hallways, and other school premises and school sponsored events. Communications on the Internet are often public in nature. The Board does not approve any use of its Technology and Information Resources that is not authorized by or conducted strictly in compliance with this policy and its accompanying guidelines.

General school rules for behavior and communication apply. Users who disregard this policy and its accompanying guidelines may have their use privileges suspended or revoked, and disciplinary action taken against them. Users are personally responsible and liable, both civilly and criminally, for uses of District Technology and Information Resources that are not authorized by this policy and its accompanying guidelines.

The Board designates the Superintendent and Information Systems Coordinator as the administrators responsible for initiating, implementing, and enforcing this policy and its accompanying guidelines as they apply to staff members' use of District Technology and Information Resources.

#### Social Media Use

An employee's personal or private use of social media may have unintended consequences. While the Board respects its employees' First Amendment rights, those rights do not include permission to post inflammatory comments that could compromise the District's mission, undermine staff relationships, or cause a substantial disruption to the school environment. This warning includes staff members' online conduct that occurs off school property including from the employee's private computer. Postings to social media should be done in a manner sensitive to the staff member's professional responsibilities.

In addition, Federal and State confidentiality laws forbid schools and their employees from using or disclosing student education records without parental consent. See Policy 5309. Education records include a wide variety of information; posting personally identifiable information about students is not permitted. Staff members who violate State and Federal confidentiality laws or privacy laws related to the disclosure of confidential employee information may be disciplined.

The purpose of this Agreement is to grant access to and define acceptable use of the ISD's technology resources ("Technology Resources"). Technology Resources are any type of instrument, device, machine, equipment, technology, or software that is capable of transmitting, acquiring, or intercepting, any telephone, electronic, data, internet, audio, video, or radio transmissions, signals,

telecommunications, or services, and include without limitation (1) internal and external network infrastructure, (2) Internet and network access, (3) computers, (4) servers, (5) storage devices, (6) peripherals, (7) software, and (8) messaging or communication systems.

In exchange for the use of the ISD's Technology Resources either at school or away from school, you understand and agree to the following:

- A. Your use of the ISD's Technology Resources is a privilege that may be revoked by the ISD at any time and for any reason.
- B. You have no expectation of privacy when using the ISD's Technology Resources. The ISD reserves the right to monitor and inspect all use of its Technology Resources, including, without limitation, personal e-mail and voice-mail communications, computer files, data bases, web logs, audit trails, or any other electronic transmissions accessed, distributed, or used through the Technology Resources. The ISD also reserves the right to remove any material from the Technology Resources that the ISD, at its sole discretion, chooses to, including, without limitation, any information that the ISD determines to be unlawful, obscene, pornographic, harassing, intimidating, disruptive, or that otherwise violates this Agreement.
- C. The Technology Resources do not provide you a "public forum". You may not use the Technology Resources for commercial purposes or to support or oppose political positions or candidates unless expressly authorized in advance by an appropriate administrator. You may, however, use the Technology Resources to contact or communicate with public officials.
- D. The ISD's Technology Resources are intended for use only by registered users. You are responsible for your account/password and any access to the Technology Resources made using your account/password. Any damage or liability arising from the use of your account/password is your responsibility. Use of your account by someone other than you is prohibited and may be grounds for suspension from the Technology Resources and other disciplinary consequences (for employees, up to and including termination), for both you and the person(s) using your account/password.
- E. If you misuse the Technology Resources, your access to the Technology Resources may be suspended and you may be subject to other disciplinary action (for employees, up to and including termination). Misuse includes, but is not limited to:
  - Accessing or attempting to access material that is unlawful, obscene, pornographic, profane, or vulgar.
  - 2. Sexting, which includes, without limitation, possessing, sending, or distributing nude, sexually explicit, or sexually suggestive photographs, videos, or other visual depictions of yourself or another person.

- 3. Vandalism, which includes, without limitation, any malicious or intentional attempt to harm, steal, destroy, or disrupt user data, school materials, or school hardware or software.
- 4. Hacking, which includes, without limitation, gaining or attempting to gain access to, modifying, or obtaining copies of, information belonging to other users or information you are not authorized to access.
- 5. Unauthorized copying or use of licenses or copyrighted software.
- 6. Plagiarizing, which includes the unauthorized distributing, copying, using, or holding out as your own, material that was written or created by someone else, without permission of, and attribution to, the author/creator.
- Posting or distributing confidential or inappropriate information meant to harass, intimidate, or embarrass others.
- 8. Allowing someone else to use your account or password or not preventing unauthorized access to Technology Resources when leaving them unattended.
- 9. Using or soliciting the use of, or attempting to use or discover the account information or password of, another user, unless authorized to do so by the ISD's administration or Board.
- 10. Attempting to or successfully disabling security features, including technology protection measures required under the Children's Internet Protection Act ("CIPA"), unless authorized to do so by the ISD's administration or Board.
- 11. Misusing equipment or altering system software without permission.
- 12. Commercial for-profit activities, advertising, political lobbying, or sending mass mailings or spam. However, you may contact a public official to express an opinion on a topic of interest.
- 13. Using the Technology Resources in any way that violates any Federal, State, or local law or rule, or any ISD policy, rule, or agreement.
- F. It is the policy of the ISD, as a recipient of certain Federal funds, to provide technology protection measures on its computers with Internet access designed to protect against access through such computers to visual depictions that are obscene or child pornography. The technology blocks may be disabled by an authorized person, during adult use, to enable access to bona fide research or for other lawful purposes.

- G. The ISD does not warrant or guarantee that its Technology Resources will meet any specific requirement or that they will be error free or uninterrupted; nor will the ISD be liable for any damages (including lost data, information, or time) sustained or incurred in connection with the use, operation, or inability to use the Technology Resources.
- H. As soon as possible, you must disclose to an appropriate school administrator any content you view or receive over the Technology Resources that makes you feel harassed, bullied, or threatened or any communication that contains sexually explicit content. You should not delete such content until instructed to do so by the Superintendent, Assistant Superintendent or the Information Systems Coordinator.
- I. You acknowledge that you may receive or have access to student education records and other data subject to confidentiality requirements of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, the Michigan Mandatory Special Education Act, and the National School Lunch Act and their underlying regulations (collectively, the "Acts"). You acknowledge that, to the extent you receive and have access to such data and records, you are subject to the provisions of those Acts and their regulations and will not redisclose student data or other education records except as permitted by law.
- J. You acknowledge and understand that correspondence or other data that you send or receive over the ISD's Technology Resources may be subject to retrieval and disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA") and other Federal or State statutes and regulations. You will cooperate fully and promptly with ISD when responding to FOIA requests or other requests for disclosure of information.
- K. You are solely responsible for all charges and fees, including outside telephone, printing, and merchandise purchases, made through the Technology Resources. The ISD is not a party to such transactions and is not liable for any costs or damages, whether direct or indirect, arising out of your use of the Technology Resources.
- L. You are responsible for the proper use of Technology Resources and will be held accountable for any damage to or replacement of the Technology Resources caused by your inappropriate use.
- M. Any violation of this Agreement may subject you to discipline (for employees, up to and including termination), including possible suspension of your access to the Technology Resources.
- N. As a condition of using the Technology Resources, I release the ISD, and its Board members, agents, and employees, including the Internet Service Provider, from all liability related to my use or inability to use the Technology Resources. I agree to follow this Agreement and all rules and regulations that may be added from time to time by the ISD or its Internet Service Provider. Any additional rules, regulations, and policies will be posted to the Districts website: www.tuscolaisd.org.
- O. I agree to pay for, reimburse, and indemnify the ISD, its Board members, agents, and employees, including the Internet Service Provider, for damages, including any fees or expenses, incurred as a result of my use, or misuse, of the Technology Resources.

P. I understand that data I send or receive over the Technology Resources is not private. I consent to having the ISD monitor and inspect my use of the Technology Resources, including any electronic communications that I send or receive through the Technology Resources.

Possession of a wireless communication device (WCD) by a student is a privilege that may be forfeited by any student who fails to abide by the terms of this policy, or otherwise engages in misuse of this privilege.

Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action and/or confiscation of the WCD. The building principal may also refer the matter to law enforcement if the violation involves an illegal activity (e.g. child pornography). Discipline will be imposed on an escalating scale ranging from a warning to an expulsion based on the number of previous violations and/or the nature of or circumstances surrounding a particular violation. If the WCD is confiscated, it will be released/returned to the student's parent/guardian after the student complies with any other disciplinary consequences that are imposed. Any WCD confiscated by District staff will be marked in a removable manner with the student's name and held in a secure location in the building's Central Office until it is retrieved by the parent/guardian. WCDs in District custody will not be searched or otherwise tampered with unless school officials reasonably suspect that the search is required to discover evidence of a violation of the law or other school rules. Any search will be conducted in accordance with Policy **5103**- Search and Seizure. If multiple offenses occur, a student may lose his/her privilege to bring a WCD to school for a designated length of time or on a permanent basis.

A person who discovers a student in possession of or using a WCD in violation of this policy is required to report the violation to the building principal.

Students are personally and solely responsible for the care and security of their WCDs. The Board assumes no responsibility for theft, loss, damage, or vandalism to WCDs brought onto its property, or the unauthorized use of such devices.

```
P.L. 106-554, Children's Internet Protection Act of 2000
P.L. 110-385, Title II, Protecting Children in the 21st Century Act
18 U.S.C. 1460
18 U.S.C. 2246
18 U.S.C. 2256
20 U.S.C. 6801 et seq., Part F, Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, as amended (2003)
47 U.S.C. 254(h), (1), Communications Act of 1934, as amended (2003)
47 C.F.R. 54.500 – 54.523
```

Revised 11/17/14 Revised 12/18/17

#### 4102 - ANTI-HARASSMENT

#### **General Policy Statement**

It is the policy of the Board of Education to maintain an education and work environment that is free from all forms of unlawful harassment, including sexual harassment. This commitment applies to all School District operations, programs, and activities. All students, administrators, teachers, staff, and all other school personnel share responsibility for avoiding, discouraging, and reporting any form of unlawful harassment. This policy applies to unlawful conduct occurring on school property, or at another location if such conduct occurs during an activity sponsored by the Board.

The Board will vigorously enforce its prohibition against discriminatory harassment based on race, color, national origin, sex (including sexual orientation and transgender identity), disability, age (except as authorized by law), religion, height, weight, marital or family status, military status ancestry, or genetic information (collectively, "Protected Classes") that are protected by Federal civil rights laws (hereinafter referred to as unlawful harassment), and encourages those within the School District community as well as third parties, who feel aggrieved to seek assistance to rectify such problems. The Board will investigate all allegations of unlawful harassment and in those cases where unlawful harassment is substantiated, the Board will take immediate steps to end the harassment, prevent its recurrence, and remedy its effects. Individuals who are found to have engaged in unlawful harassment will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action.

For purposes of this policy, "School District community" means students, administrators, and professional and support staff, as well as Board members, agents, volunteers, contractors, or other persons subject to the control and supervision of the Board.

For purposes of this policy, "third parties" include, but are not limited to, guests and/or visitors on School District property (e.g., visiting speakers, participants on opposing athletic teams, parents), vendors doing business with, or seeking to do business with, the Board, and other individuals who come in contact with members of the School District community at school-related events/activities (whether on or off School District property).

#### Other Violations of the Anti-Harassment Policy

The Board will also take immediate steps to impose disciplinary action on individuals engaging in any of the following prohibited acts:

- A. Retaliating against a person who has made a report or filed a complaint alleging unlawful harassment, or who has participated as a witness in a harassment investigation.
- B. Filing a malicious or knowingly false report or complaint of unlawful harassment.
- C. Disregarding, failing to investigate adequately, or delaying investigation of allegations of unlawful harassment, when responsibility for reporting and/or investigating harassment charges comprises part of one's supervisory duties.

#### **Definitions**

#### **Bullying**

Bullying rises to the level of unlawful harassment when one or more persons systematically and chronically inflict physical hurt or psychological distress on one (1) or more students or employees and the bullying is based upon one (1) or more Protected Classes, that is, characteristics that are protected by Federal civil rights laws. It is defined as any unwanted and repeated written, verbal, or physical behavior, including any threatening, insulting, or dehumanizing gesture, by an adult or student, that is severe or pervasive enough to create an intimidating, hostile, or offensive educational or work environment; cause discomfort or humiliation, or unreasonably interfere with the individual's school or work performance or participation; an may involve:

A. teasing;
B. threats;
C. intimidation;
D. stalking;
E. cyberstalking;
F. cyberbullying;
G. physical violence;
H. theft;
I. sexual, religious, or racial harassment;
J. public humiliation; or
K. destruction of property.

#### Harassment

Harassment means any threatening, insulting, or dehumanizing gesture, use of technology, or written, verbal or physical conduct directed against a student or school employee that:

- A. places a student or school employee in reasonable fear of harm to his/her person or damage to his/her property;
- B. has the effect of substantially interfering with a student's educational performance, opportunities, or benefits, or an employee's work performance; or
- C. has the effect of substantially disrupting the orderly operation of a school.

#### Sexual Harassment

Pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and Title IX of the Educational Amendments of 1972, "sexual harassment" is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature, when:

- A. Submission to such conduct is made either implicitly or explicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment, or status in a class, educational program, or activity.
- B. Submission or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment or educational decisions affecting such individual.
- C. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of interfering with the individual's work or educational performance; of creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working, and/or learning environment; or of interfering with one's ability to participate in or benefit from a class or an educational program or activity.

Sexual harassment may involve the behavior of a person of either gender against a person of the same or opposite gender.

Prohibited acts that constitute sexual harassment may take a variety of forms. Examples of the kinds of conduct that may constitute sexual harassment include, but are not limited to:

- A. Unwelcome sexual propositions, invitations, solicitations, and flirtations.
- B. Unwanted physical and/or sexual contact.
- C. Threats or insinuations that a person's employment, wages, academic grade, promotion, classroom work or assignments, academic status, participation in athletics or extra-curricular programs or events, or other conditions of employment or education may be adversely affected by not submitting to sexual advances.

- D. Unwelcome verbal expressions of a sexual nature, including graphic sexual commentaries about a person's body, dress, appearance, or sexual activities; the unwelcome use of sexually degrading language, jokes or innuendoes; unwelcome suggestive or insulting sounds or whistles; obscene telephone calls.
- E. Sexually suggestive objects, pictures, videotapes, audio recordings or literature, placed in the work or educational environment, which may embarrass or offend individuals.
- F. Unwelcome and inappropriate touching, patting, or pinching; obscene gestures.
- G. A pattern of conduct, which can be subtle in nature, that has sexual overtones and is intended to create or has the effect of creating discomfort and/or humiliation to another.
- H. Remarks speculating about a person's sexual activities or sexual history, or remarks about one's own sexual activities or sexual history.
- I. Inappropriate boundary invasions by a District employee or other adult member of the School District community into a student's personal space and personal life.
- J. Verbal, nonverbal or physical aggression, intimidation, or hostility based on sex or sex-stereotyping that does not involve conduct of a sexual nature.

Not all behavior with sexual connotations constitutes unlawful sexual harassment. Sex-based or gender-based conduct must be sufficiently severe, pervasive, and persistent such that it adversely affects, limits, or denies an individual's employment or education, or such that it creates a hostile or abusive employment or educational environment, or such that it is intended to, or has the effect of, denying or limiting a student's ability to participate in or benefit from the educational program or activities.

NOTE: Sexual conduct/relationships with students by District employees or any other adult member of the School District community is prohibited, and any teacher, administrator, coach, or other school authority who engages in sexual conduct with a student may also be guilty of the criminal charge of "sexual battery". The issue of consent is irrelevant in regard to such criminal charge and/or with respect to the application of this policy to District employees or other adult members of the School District community.

#### Race/Color Harassment

Prohibited racial harassment occurs when unwelcome physical, verbal, or nonverbal conduct is based upon an individual's race or color and when the conduct has the purpose or effect of interfering with the individual's work or educational performance; of creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working, and/or learning environment; or of interfering with one's ability to participate in or benefit from a class or an educational program or activity. Such harassment may occur where conduct is directed at the characteristics of a person's race or color, such as racial slurs, nicknames implying stereotypes, epithets, and/or negative references relative to racial customs.

#### Religious (Creed) Harassment

Prohibited religious harassment occurs when unwelcome physical, verbal, or nonverbal conduct is based upon an individual's religion or creed and when the conduct has the purpose or effect of interfering with the individual's work or educational performance; of creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working and/or learning environment; or of interfering with one's ability to participate in or benefit from a class or an educational program or activity. Such harassment may occur where conduct is directed at the characteristics of a person's religious tradition, clothing, or surnames, and/or involves religious slurs.

#### **National Origin/Ancestry Harassment**

Prohibited national origin/ancestry harassment occurs when unwelcome physical, verbal, or nonverbal conduct is based upon an individual's national origin or ancestry and when the conduct has the purpose or effect of interfering with the individual's work or educational performance; of creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working and/or learning environment; or of interfering with one's ability to participate in or benefit from a class or an educational program or activity. Such harassment may occur where conduct is directed at the characteristics of a person's national origin or ancestry, such as negative comments regarding customs, manner of speaking, language, surnames, or ethnic slurs.

#### **Disability Harassment**

Prohibited disability harassment occurs when unwelcome physical, verbal, or nonverbal conduct is based upon an individual's disability and when the conduct has the purpose or effect of interfering with the individual's work or educational performance; of creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working and/or learning environment; or of interfering with one's ability to participate in or benefit from a class or an educational program or activity. Such harassment may occur where conduct is directed at the characteristics of a person's disabling condition, such as negative comments about speech patterns, movement, physical impairments or defects/appearances, or the like. Such harassment may further occur where conduct is directed at or pertains to a person's genetic information.

#### **Reports and Complaints of Harassing Conduct**

Students and other members of the School District community and third parties are encouraged to promptly report incidents of harassing conduct to a teacher, administrator, supervisor or other District official so that the Board may address the conduct before it becomes severe, pervasive, or persistent. Any teacher, administrator, supervisor, or other District employee or official who receives such a complaint shall file it with the District's Anti-Harassment Compliance Officer at his/her first convenience.

Members of the School District community, which includes students, or third parties who believe they have been unlawfully harassed are entitled to utilize the Board's complaint process that is set forth below. Initiating a complaint, whether formally or informally, will not adversely affect the complaining individual's employment or participation in educational or extra-curricular programs. While there are no time limits for initiating complaints of harassment under this policy, individuals should make every effort to file a complaint as soon as possible after the conduct occurs while the facts are known and potential witnesses are available.

If, during an investigation of alleged bullying, aggressive behavior and/or harassment in accordance with Policy 5207– Bullying and Other Forms of Aggressive Behavior, the Principal believes that the reported misconduct may have created a hostile learning environment and may have constituted unlawful discriminatory harassment based on a Protected Class, the Principal shall report the act of bullying, aggressive behavior and/or harassment to one of the Anti-Harassment Compliance Officers who shall investigate the allegation in accordance with this policy. While the Compliance Officer investigates the allegation, the Principal shall suspend his/her Policy 5517.01 investigation to await the Compliance Officer's written report. The Compliance Officer shall keep the Principal informed of the status of the Policy 5207 investigation and provide him/her with a copy of the resulting written report.

#### **Anti-Harassment Compliance Officers**

The Board designates the following individuals to serve as "Anti-Harassment Compliance Officers" for the District. They are hereinafter referred to as the "Compliance Officers".

Holly Main Eric Kunisch

Special Education Monitor Asst. Supt. Special Education

989-673-2144 989-673-2144

1385 Cleaver Rd. 1385 Cleaver Rd.

Caro, MI 48723 Caro, MI 48723

hmain@tuscolaisd.org ekunisch@tuscolaisd.org

The names, titles, and contact information of these individuals will be published annually on the School District's web site.

The Compliance Officers will be available during regular school/work hours to discuss concerns related to unlawful harassment, to assist students, other members of the District community, and third parties who seek support or advice when informing another individual about "unwelcome" conduct, or to intercede informally on behalf of the student, other member of the School District community or third party in those instances where concerns have not resulted in the filing of a formal complaint and where all parties are in agreement to participate in an informal process.

Compliance Officers shall accept complaints of unlawful harassment directly from any member of the School District community or a visitor to the District, or receive complaints that are initially filed within a school building administrator. Upon receipt of a complaint either directly or through a school building administrator, a Compliance Officer will begin either an informal or formal process (depending on the request of the person alleging the harassment or the nature of the alleged harassment), or the Compliance Officer will designate a specific individual to conduct such a process. In the case of a formal complaint, the Compliance Officer will prepare recommendations for the Superintendent or will oversee the preparation of such recommendations by a designee. All members of the School District

community must report incidents of harassment that are reported to them to the Compliance Officer within two (2) business days of learning of the incident.

Any Board employee who directly observes unlawful harassment of a student is obligated, in accordance with this policy, to report such observations to one of the Compliance Officers within two (2) business days. Additionally, any Board employee who observes an act of unlawful harassment is expected to intervene to stop the harassment, unless circumstances make such an intervention dangerous, in which case the staff member should immediately notify other Board employees and/or local law enforcement officials, as necessary, to stop. Thereafter, the Compliance Officer or designee must contact the student, if age eighteen (18) or older, or the student's parents if under the age eighteen (18) within two (2) school days, to advise s/he/them of the Board's intent to investigate the alleged misconduct, including the obligation of the Compliance Officer or designee to conduct an investigation following all the procedures outlined for a formal complaint.

#### **Investigation and Complaint Procedure**

Any student who believes that s/he has been subjected to unlawful harassment may seek resolution of his/her complaint through either the informal or formal procedures as described below. Further, a process for investigating claims of harassment or retaliation and a process for rendering a decision regarding whether the claim of legally prohibited harassment or retaliation was substantiated are set forth below.

Due to the sensitivity surrounding complaints of unlawful harassment or retaliation, time lines are flexible for initiating the complaint process; however, individuals should make every effort to file a complaint within thirty (30) calendar days after the conduct occurs while the facts are known and potential witnesses are available. Once the formal complaint process is begun, the investigation will be completed in a timely manner (ordinarily, within fifteen (15) business days of the complaint being received).

The informal and formal procedures set forth below are not intended to interfere with the rights of a student to pursue a complaint of unlawful harassment or retaliation with the United States Department of Education Office for Civil Rights.

#### Informal Complaint Procedure

The goal of the informal complaint procedure is to stop inappropriate behavior and to investigate and facilitate resolution through an informal means, if possible. The informal complaint procedure is provided as a less formal option for a student who believes s/he has been unlawfully harassed or retaliated against. This informal procedure is not required as a precursor to the filing of a formal complaint.

Students who believe that they have been unlawfully harassed may initiate their complaint through this informal complaint process, but are not required to do so. The informal process is only available in those circumstances where the parties (alleged target of harassment and alleged harasser(s)) agree to participate in the informal process.

Students who believe that they have been unlawfully harassed or retaliated may proceed immediately to the formal complaint process and individuals who seek resolution through the informal procedure may request that the informal process be terminated at any time to move to the formal complaint process.

However, all complaints of harassment involving a District employee or any other adult member of the School District community against a student will be formally investigated. Similarly, any allegations of sexual violence will be formally investigated.

As an initial course of action, if a student feels that s/he is being unlawfully harassed and s/he is able and feels safe doing so, the individual should tell or otherwise inform the harasser that the conduct is unwelcome and must stop. Such direct communication should not be utilized in circumstances involving sexual violence. The complaining individual should address the allegedly harassing conduct as soon after it occurs as possible. The Compliance Officers are available to support and counsel individuals when taking this initial step or to intervene on behalf of the individual if requested to do so. An individual who is uncomfortable or unwilling to inform the harasser of his/her complaint is not prohibited from otherwise filing an informal or a formal complaint. In addition, with regard to certain types of unlawful harassment, such as sexual harassment, the Compliance Officer may advise against the use of the informal complaint process.

A student who believes s/he has been unlawfully harassed may make an informal complaint, either orally or in writing: (1) to a teacher, other employee, or building administrator in the school the student attends; (2) to the Superintendent or other District-level employee; and/or (3) directly to one of the Compliance Officers.

All informal complaints must be reported to one of the Compliance Officers who will either facilitate an informal resolution as described below on his/her own, or appoint another individual to facilitate an informal resolution.

The School District's informal complaint procedure is designed to provide students who believe they are being unlawfully harassed with a range of options designed to bring about a resolution of their concerns. Depending upon the nature of the complaint and the wishes of the student claiming unlawful harassment, informal resolution may involve, but not be limited to, one or more of the following:

- A. Advising the student about how to communicate the unwelcome nature of the behavior to the alleged harasser.
- B. Distributing a copy of the anti-harassment policy as a reminder to the individuals in the school building or office where the individual whose behavior is being questioned works or attends.
- C. If both parties agree, the Compliance Officer may arrange and facilitate a meeting between the student claiming harassment and the individual accused of harassment to work out a mutual resolution. Such a meeting is not appropriate in circumstances involving sexual violence.

While there are no set time limits within which an informal complaint must be resolved, the Compliance Officer or designee will exercise his/her authority to attempt to resolve all informal complaints within fifteen (15) business days of receiving the informal complaint. Parties who are dissatisfied with the results of the informal complaint process may proceed to file a formal complaint. And, as stated above, parties may request that the informal process be terminated at any time to move to the formal complaint process.

All materials generated as part of the informal complaint process will be retained by the Compliance Officers in accordance with the School Board's records retention policy and/or Student records policy. (See Policy 3502)

#### **Formal Complaint Procedure**

If a complaint is not resolved through the informal complaint process, if one of the parties has requested that the informal complaint process be terminated to move to the formal complaint process, or if the student elects to file a formal complaint initially, the formal complaint process shall be implemented.

A student who believes s/he has been subjected to offensive conduct/harassment/retaliation hereinafter referred to as the "Complainant", may file a formal complaint, either orally or in writing, with a teacher, principal, or other District employee at the student's school, the Compliance Officer, Superintendent, or another District employee who works at another school or at the district level. Due to the sensitivity surrounding complaints of unlawful harassment and retaliation, timelines are flexible for initiating the complaint process; however, individuals should make every effort to file a complaint within thirty (30) calendar days after the conduct occurs while the facts are known and potential witnesses are available. If a Complainant informs a teacher, principal, or other District employee at the student's school, Superintendent, or other District employee, either orally or in writing, about any complaint of harassment or retaliation, that employee must report such information to the Compliance Officer or designee within two (2) business days.

Throughout the course of the process, the Compliance Officer should keep the parties informed of the status of the investigation and the decision-making process.

All formal complaints must include the following information to the extent it is available: the identity of the individual believed to have engaged in, or be engaging in, offensive conduct/harassment/retaliation; a detailed description of the facts upon which the complaint is based; a list of potential witnesses; and the resolution sought by the Complainant.

If the Complainant is unwilling or unable to provide a written statement including the information set forth above, the Compliance Officer shall ask for such details in an oral interview. Thereafter, the Compliance Officer will prepare a written summary of the oral interview, and the Complainant will be asked to verify the accuracy of the reported charge by signing the document.

Upon receiving a formal complaint, the Compliance Officer will consider whether any action should be taken in the investigatory phase to protect the Complainant from further harassment or retaliation, including, but not limited to, a change of work assignment or schedule for the Complainant and/or the alleged harasser. In making such a determination, the Compliance Officer should consult the Complainant to assess his/her agreement to the proposed action. If the Complainant is unwilling to consent to the proposed change, the Compliance Officer may still take whatever actions s/he deem appropriate in consultation with the Superintendent.

Within two (2) business days of receiving the complaint, the Compliance Officer or a designee will initiate a formal investigation to determine whether the Complainant has been subjected to offensive conduct/harassment/retaliation. Principal will not conduct an investigation unless directed to do so by the Compliance Officer.

Simultaneously, the Compliance Officer will inform the individual alleged to have engaged in the harassing or retaliatory conduct, hereinafter referred to as the "Respondent", that a complaint has been received. The Respondent will be informed about the nature of the allegations and provided with a copy of any relevant administrative guidelines, including the Board's Anti-Harassment policy. The Respondent must also be informed of the opportunity to submit a written response to the complaint within five (5) business days.

Although certain cases may require additional time, the Compliance Officer or a designee will attempt to complete an investigation into the allegations of harassment/retaliation within fifteen (15) business days of receiving the formal complaint. The investigation will include:

- A. interviews with the Complainant;
- B. interviews with the Respondent;
- C. interviews with any other witnesses who may reasonably be expected to have any information relevant to the allegations;
- D. consideration of any documentation or other information presented by the Complainant, Respondent, or any other witness that is reasonably believed to be relevant to the allegations.

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Compliance Officer or the designee shall prepare and deliver a written report to the Superintendent that summarizes the evidence gathered during the investigation and provides recommendations based on the evidence and the definition of unlawful harassment as provided in Board policy and State and Federal law as to whether the Complainant has been subjected to unlawful harassment. The Compliance Officer's recommendations must be based upon the totality of the circumstances, including the ages and maturity levels of those involved. In determining if discriminatory harassment or retaliation occurred, a preponderance of evidence standard will be used. The Compliance Officer may consult with the Board's legal counsel before finalizing the report to the Superintendent.

Absent extenuating circumstances, within ten (10) school days of receiving the report of the Compliance Officer or the designee, the Superintendent must either issue a final decision regarding whether the complaint of harassment has been substantiated or request further investigation. A copy of the Superintendent's final decision will be delivered to both the Complainant and the Respondent.

If the Superintendent requests additional investigation, the Superintendent must specify the additional information that is to be gathered, and such additional investigation must be completed within ten (10) school days. At the conclusion of the additional investigation, the Superintendent shall issue a final written decision as described above.

The decision of the Superintendent shall be final.

The Board reserves the right to investigate and resolve a complaint or report of unlawful harassment/retaliation regardless of whether the student alleging the unlawful harassment/retaliation pursues the complaint. The Board also reserves the right to have the formal complaint investigation conducted by an external person in accordance with this policy or in such other manner as deemed appropriate by the Board or its designee.

#### Privacy/Confidentiality

The School District will employ all reasonable efforts to protect the rights of the complainant, the individual(s) against whom the complaint is filed, and the witnesses as much as possible, consistent with the Board's legal obligations to investigate, to take appropriate action, and to conform with any discovery or disclosure obligations. All records generated under the terms of this policy and its related

administrative guidelines shall be maintained as confidential to the extent permitted by law. Confidentiality, however, cannot be guaranteed. All Complainants proceeding through the formal investigation process will be advised that their identities may be disclosed to the Respondent.

During the course of a formal investigation, the Compliance Officer or his/her designee will instruct all members of the School District community and third parties who are interviewed about the importance of maintaining confidentiality. Any individual who is interviewed as part of a harassment investigation is expected not to disclose any information that s/he learns or that s/he provides during the course of the investigation.

All records created as a part of an investigation of a complaint of harassment will be maintained by the Compliance Officer in accordance with the Board's records retention policy. Any records that are considered student education records in accordance with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act or under Michigan's student records law will be maintained in a manner consistent with the provisions of the Federal and State law.

#### **Sanctions and Monitoring**

The Board shall vigorously enforce its prohibitions against unlawful harassment by taking appropriate action reasonably calculated to stop the harassment and prevent further such harassment. While observing the principles of due process, a violation of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including the discharge of an employee or the suspension/expulsion of a student. All disciplinary action will be taken in accordance with applicable State law and the terms of the relevant collective bargaining agreement(s). When imposing discipline, the Superintendent shall consider the totality of the circumstances involved in the matter, including the ages and maturity levels of those involved. In those cases where unlawful harassment is not substantiated, the Board may consider whether the alleged conduct nevertheless warrants discipline in accordance with other Board policies, consistent with the terms of the relevant collective bargaining agreement(s).

Where the Board becomes aware that a prior remedial action has been taken against a member of the School District community, all subsequent sanctions imposed by the Board and/or Superintendent shall be reasonably calculated to end such conduct, prevent its reoccurrence, and remedy its effects.

#### Retaliation

Any act of retaliation against a person who has made a report or filed a complaint alleging unlawful harassment, or who has participated as a witness in a harassment investigation is prohibited.

#### Allegations Constituting Criminal Conduct: Child Abuse/Sexual Misconduct

State law requires any school teacher or school employee who knows or suspects that a student with a disability who is twenty-six (26) years or younger or a student under the age of eighteen (18) has suffered or faces a threat of suffering a physical or mental wound, disability or condition of a nature that reasonably indicates abuse or neglect of a child to immediately report that knowledge or suspicion to the county children's services agency. If, during the course of a harassment investigation, the Compliance Officer or a designee has reason to believe or suspect that the alleged conduct reasonably indicates abuse or neglect of the Complainant, a report of such knowledge must be made in accordance with State law and Board Policy.

Any reports made to a county children's services agency or to local law enforcement shall not terminate the Compliance Officer or a designee's obligation and responsibility to continue to investigate a complaint of harassment. While the Compliance Officer or a designee may work cooperatively with outside agencies to conduct concurrent investigations, in no event shall the harassment investigation be inhibited by the involvement of outside agencies without good cause after consultation with the Superintendent.

#### **Education and Training**

In support of this Anti-Harassment Policy, the Board promotes preventative educational measures to create greater awareness of unlawful discriminatory practices. The Superintendent or designee shall provide appropriate information to all members of the School District community related to the implementation of this policy and shall provide training for District students and staff where appropriate. All training, as well as information provided regarding the Board's policy and harassment in general, will be age and content appropriate.

Titles VI and VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq. 20 U.S.C. 1400 et seq., The Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEIA) 20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq. 29 U.S.C. 794, Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended 29 U.S.C. 6101, The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq. 42 U.S.C. 2000e et seq. 42 U.S.C. 12101 et seg., Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended 42 U.S.C. 1983 42 U.S.C. 2000ff et seg., The Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act 29 C.F.R. Part 1635 Title IX of the Educational Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. 1681 et seg. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. 794 The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq. The Handicappers' Civil Rights Act, M.C.L. 37.1101 et seg. The Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act, M.C.L. 37.2101, et seg. Policies on Bullying, Michigan State Board of Education, 7-19-01 Model Anti-Bullying Policy, Michigan State Board of Education, 09-2006

National School Boards Association Inquiry and Analysis – May 2008

Revised 10/21/13 Revised 5/19/14

#### 4106 - FAMILY & MEDICAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE ("FMLA")

In accordance with Federal law, the Board of Education shall provide up to twelve (12) weeks of unpaid FMLA leave in any twelve (12) month period to eligible professional staff members for the following reasons:

- A-1. the birth of a child and/or the care of a newborn child within one (1) year of the child's birth
- B-1. the placement of a child with the staff member by way of adoption or foster care and/or to care for the child within one (1) year of the child's arrival
- C-1. the staff member is needed to care for a spouse, parent or dependent child if such individual has a serious health condition, or
- D-1. the staff member's own serious health condition prevents him/her from performing the functions of his/her position

#### **Employee Entitlement to Service Member FMLA**

#### **Leave Entitlement**

Service member FMLA provides eligible employees unpaid leave for one, or for a combination, of the following reasons:

A-2. A "qualifying exigency" arising out of a covered family member's (spouse, son, daughter, or parent) covered active duty or call to covered active duty in the United States Armed Forces including the National Guard and Reserves. Qualifying exigencies, as defined by Federal regulations, include:

1) short-notice deployment; 2) military events and related activities; 3) childcare and school activities; 4) financial and legal arrangements; 5) counseling; 6) rest and recuperation (maximum fifteen (15) calendar days); 7) post-deployment activities; 8) caring for a military member's parent who is incapable of self-care when the care is necessitated by the member's covered active duty; and 9) additional activities not encompassed in the other categories, but agreed to by the employer and employee. Covered active duty means deployment with the Armed Forces to a foreign country.

B-2. To care for a covered family member, including next of kin as provided in the statute, who has incurred an injury or illness or aggravation of a pre-existing illness or injury while in the line of duty while on covered active duty in the United States Armed Forces, including the National Guard and Reserves, provided that such injury or illness may render the family member medically unfit to perform duties of the member's office, grade, rank, or rating. Covered active duty means deployment with the Armed Forces to a foreign country. This leave is also available to care for veterans of the United States Armed Forces, including the National Guard and Reserves, provided the veteran was a service member at any time within the five (5) years prior to the start of the treatment, recuperation or therapy. In accordance with applicable regulations, a veteran's serious injury or illness incurred or aggravated in the line of active duty can also be manifested by: 1) a physical or mental condition with a VA Service Disability Rating of 50% or greater and is the condition precipitating the need for leave; or 2) a physical or mental condition that substantially impairs the ability to secure or substantially follow a gainful occupation, or would do so absent treatment; or 3) an injury, including psychological, for which the veteran has been enrolled in the Dept. of V.A. Program of Comprehensive Assistance for Family Care Givers.

#### **Duration of Service Member FMLA**

- A. When leave is due to a "Qualifying Exigency": An eligible employee may take up to twelve (12) work weeks of leave during any twelve (12) month period. Such leave shall be counted with regular FMLA leave time in calculating the twelve (12) weeks of allowable leave.
- B. When leave is to care for an injured or ill service member: An eligible employee may take up to twenty-six (26) work weeks of leave during a single twelve (12) month period to care for the service member who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness. This is a one-time benefit per service member. Leave to care for an injured or ill service member, when combined with other FMLA-qualifying leave, may not exceed twenty-six (26) weeks in a single twelve (12) month period.
- C. Service Member FMLA runs concurrent with other leave entitlements provided under Federal, State, and local law.

#### **General FMLA Provisions**

Professional staff members are "eligible" if they have worked for the Board for at least twelve (12) months, **and** for at least 1,250 hours over the twelve (12) months prior to the leave request. Service time may be aggregated when the break in service is less than seven (7) years for military obligation or subject to recall under a collective bargaining agreement. All full-time professional staff members are deemed to meet the 1,250 hour requirement. All periods of absence from work due to or necessitated by USERRA-covered service is counted in determining and employee's eligibility for FMLA leave.

Twelve (12) month period for determining hours worked and use of leave is defined as the twelve (12) month period measured forward from the date the staff member's first FMLA leave begins (i.e., the "leave year" is specific to each individual staff member).

For Service Member FMLA leave, the use of the twenty-six (26) weeks of leave will be measured forward from the first date on which the employee takes leave.

Serious health condition is defined as an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves:

A. inpatient care, including any period of incapacity or any subsequent treatment in connection with such inpatient care; or

B. continuing treatment by a healthcare provider, including:

1. a period of incapacity of more than three (3) consecutive full calendar days and any subsequent treatment or period of incapacity relating to the same condition, that also involves either in person treatment two (2) or more times by a healthcare provider within thirty (30) days of the first date of incapacity absent extenuating circumstances beyond the employee's control, or in person treatment by a healthcare provider on at least one (1) occasion which results in a regimen of continuing treatment under the supervision of a healthcare provider;

The first visit to the healthcare provider must occur within seven (7) days of the first date of incapacity.

2. any incapacity due to pregnancy or for prenatal care;

An expectant mother is entitled to FMLA leave for incapacity due to pregnancy even if she does not receive treatment from a healthcare provider during the absence, and even if the absence does not last for more than three (3) consecutive, full calendar days.

- 3. any period of incapacity or treatment for such incapacity due to a chronic serious health condition;
- 4. a period of incapacity which is permanent or long-term due to a condition for which treatment may not be effective:
- 5. any period of absence to receive multiple treatments by a healthcare provider either for restorative surgery after an accident or other injury, or for a condition that would likely result in a period of incapacity of more than three (3) consecutive days in the absence of medical intervention or treatment, such as cancer (chemotherapy, radiation, etc.), severe arthritis (physical therapy), kidney disease (dialysis);

C. conditions for which cosmetic treatment are administered are not "serious health conditions" unless inpatient hospital care is required or complications develop. Ordinarily, unless complications arise, the common cold, the flu, ear aches, upset stomachs, minor ulcers, headaches other than migraines, routine dental or orthodontia problems, periodontal disease, etc., are conditions that do not meet this definition and do not qualify for FMLA leave.

Whenever the leave is foreseeable, the staff member shall provide the Superintendent with thirty (30) days' notice. If there is insufficient time to provide such notice because of unforeseeable events, the staff member shall provide such notice as soon as possible and practical, generally not later than the next business day after the employee realizes the need for leave. Failure to follow the leave notice requirements may result in delay of obtaining the leave. Employees will still be required to comply with the absence reporting procedures at their buildings.

When planning medical treatment, the staff member must consult with the Superintendent and make a reasonable effort to schedule the leave so as not to unduly disrupt the regular operation of the District, subject to the approval of the healthcare provider.

The Board shall require the staff member to substitute any of his/her earned or accrued paid vacation leave, personal leave or family leave (per the applicable collective bargaining agreement) for unpaid FMLA leave provided for the birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child, or qualifying exigency for a Service Member Family Leave (see A-1, B-1, and A-2 on page one).

The Board shall require the staff member to substitute any of his/her earned or accrued paid vacation, personal leave or sick leave (per the applicable collective bargaining agreement) for unpaid FMLA leave provided for the staff member's own serious health condition or to care for a spouse, parent or dependent child with a serious health condition (see C-1 and D-1 on page one and B-2 on page two).

If the staff member has not earned or accrued adequate paid leave to encompass the entire twelve (12) or twenty-six (26) week period of FMLA leave, any additional weeks of leave to which the staff member is entitled to shall be unpaid. Whenever a staff member uses paid leave for a qualifying leave under this policy, such leave will count towards the maximum allowable leave, the paid leave, and FMLA/Service Member Family leave to which the staff member is entitled will run concurrently.

The Superintendent may allow a staff member to take FMLA leave intermittently or on a reduced-leave schedule for the birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child (see A-1 and B-1 on page one). A staff member may take FMLA leave on an intermittent or reduced-leave schedule when medically necessary for his/her own serious health condition or to care for a spouse, parent or dependent child with a serious health condition (see C-1 and D-1 on page one). The taking of such leave results in the total reduction of the twelve (12) weeks only by the amount of leave actually taken. Leave will be accounted for in increments no greater than the smallest increment used for other similar leaves, but in no event greater than one (1) hour increments. Leave entitlement will not be reduced by more than the amount of leave actually taken.

If the intermittent or reduced-leave schedule is foreseeable based on planned medical treatment, the Superintendent may require the staff member to transfer temporarily to an available alternative position which better accommodates recurring periods of leave. The alternative position shall have equivalent pay and benefits but not necessarily equivalent duties. Instructional staff members (i.e. individuals whose principal function is to teach and instruct students in a class, a small group, or an individual setting) who request intermittent leave or a reduced-leave schedule which would exceed twenty percent (20%) of the total number of working days over the period of anticipated leave must elect either to:

- A. take leave for a period or periods of a particular duration, not greater than the duration of the planned treatment; or
- B. transfer temporarily to an available alternative position offered by the Superintendent for which the instructional staff member is qualified, and that has equivalent pay and benefits and that better accommodates the recurring periods of leave than the staff member's regular position.

The Superintendent will notify the staff member when the District intends to designate leave as FMLA-qualifying. Such notice may be given orally or in writing. When verbal notice is given, it will be followed by written notice within ten (10) business days. In the case of intermittent or reduced-leave schedule leave, only one (1) such notice is required unless the circumstances regarding the leave have changed. If the Superintendent does not have sufficient information about the reason for an employee's use of paid leave, the Superintendent may inquire further to ascertain whether the paid leave is FMLA-qualifying. Once the Superintendent learns that a paid leave is for an FMLA leave-qualifying reason, the Superintendent will promptly notify the staff member that the paid leave will count toward the staff member's twelve (12) week FMLA-leave entitlement.

In cases in which the Board employs both spouses, the total amount of FMLA leave is twelve (12) weeks for the couple, except when the leave is due to the serious health condition of either spouse or a child, or twenty-six (26) weeks of FMLA leave for Service Member Leave.

When FMLA leave is taken for the staff member's own serious health condition or to care for a spouse, parent or dependent child with a serious health condition (see C-1 and D-1 on page one), the staff member must provide medical certification from the healthcare provider of the eligible staff member or his/her immediate family member). When the staff member requests qualifying Service Member Leave, s/he must provide certification of a qualifying exigency or of the service member's serious illness. For service member leave, any certification permitted under 29 C.F.R. 825.310 shall be allowed.

The staff member may either:

A. submit the completed medical certification to the Superintendent; or

B. direct the healthcare provider to transfer the completed medical certification directly to the Superintendent, which will generally require the staff member to furnish the healthcare provider with a HIPAA-compliant authorization.

In the event the staff member fails to provide medical certification, any leave taken by the employee will not qualify for FMLA Leave/Service Member Family Leave.

When the need for FMLA leave is foreseeable and at least thirty (30) days notice has been provided, the staff member must provide the medical certification before the leave begins. When this is not possible, the employee must provide the requested certification to the Superintendent within fifteen (15) calendar days after the staff member requests FMLA leave unless it is not practicable under the circumstances to do so despite the staff member's diligent and good faith efforts.

Any dispute over eligibility for FMLA leave shall be discussed between the employee and Superintendent. The District shall be responsible for maintaining a record of those communications.

The Board reserves the right to obtain, at its expense, the opinion of a second healthcare provider and, in the event of conflict, the opinion of a third healthcare provider whose decision shall be binding and final. The staff member may either:

#### 4106 - FAMILY & MEDICAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE ("FMLA") (continued)

A. submit the opinion of the second healthcare provider, and the opinion of the third healthcare provider if applicable, to the Superintendent; or

B. direct the second or third healthcare provider to transfer his/her opinion directly to the Superintendent, which will generally require the staff member to furnish the healthcare provider with a HIPAA-compliant authorization.

In the event the staff member fails to provide the medical opinion of the second or third healthcare provider, if applicable, any leave taken by the employee will not qualify for FMLA leave.

A staff member who takes leave for his/her own serious health condition prior to returning to work, must provide the Superintendent with a statement from his/her healthcare provider that s/he is able to resume work.

Upon return from any FMLA leave, the Board will restore the staff member to his/her former position or to a position with equivalent employment benefits, pay and conditions of employment. During FMLA leave, the Board shall maintain the staff member's current coverage under the Board's group health insurance program on the same conditions as coverage would have been provided if the staff member had been continuously working during the leave period. If the staff member was paying all or part of the premium payments prior to going on FMLA leave, the staff member must continue to pay his/her share during the leave.

Any leave or return from leave during the last five (5) weeks of an academic term shall be reviewed individually by the Superintendent to minimize disruption to the students' program. Special rules under the FMLA may apply for instructional staff.

The staff member shall not accrue any sick leave, vacation, or other benefits during a period of unpaid FMLA leave.

The use of FMLA leave will not result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to the start of the staff member's leave.

A staff member who fraudulently obtains FMLA leave is not protected by this policy's job restoration or maintenance of health benefits provisions.

The Superintendent shall prepare any guidelines that are appropriate for this policy and ensure that the policy is posted properly.

In any areas where discretion is allowed in the implementation of this policy or its guidelines for implementation, such discretion shall be exercised in a non-discriminatory manner. Similarly situated persons shall be treated similarly.

The Superintendent shall provide a copy of the policy to all staff members, and retain a record of how and when the policy was distributed. A notice of Rights and Obligations shall also be provided each time an employee requests FMLA leave or the District has sufficient information to believe that the employee may qualify for FMLA leave.

The approval, denial and administration of leave under this policy will be governed by the Family Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended, and its published regulations, as applied and interpreted by the Superintendent.

#### 4106 - FAMILY & MEDICAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE ("FMLA") (continued)

29 U.S.C. 2601 et seq.
29 C.F.R. Part 825
P.L. 110-181, Sec. 585 – National Defense Authorization Act (January 28, 2008)
P.L. 111-84, Sec. 565 – National Defense Authorization Act (October 28, 2009)

Revised 10/21/13 Revised 11/16/15

## 3115 - NONDISCRIMINATION AND EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY

The Board of Education does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, (including sexual orientation and transgender identity), disability, age, religion, height, weight, marital or family status, military status, ancestry, genetic information or any other legally protected category, (collectively, "Protected Classes"), in its programs and activities, including employment opportunities.

#### **District Compliance Officers**

The Board designates the following individuals to serve as the District's "Compliance Officers" (also known as "Civil Rights Coordinator") (hereinafter referred to as the "COs").

Holly Main Eric Kunisch

Special Education Monitor Asst. Supt. Special Education

989-673-2144 989-673-2144 1385 Cleaver Rd. 1385 Cleaver Rd. Caro, MI 48723 Caro, MI 48723

hmain@tuscolaisd.org ekunisch@tuscolaisd.org

The names, titles, and contact information of these individuals will be published annually on the School District's web site.

The COs are responsible for coordinating the District's efforts to comply with applicable Federal and State laws and regulations, including the District's duty to address in a prompt and equitable manner any inquiries or complaints regarding discrimination, retaliation or denial of equal access. The COs shall also verify that proper notice of nondiscrimination for Title II, of the Americans with Disabilities Act (as amended), Title VI and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title IX of the Education Amendment Act of 1972, and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (as amended), and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1975 is provided to staff members, and the general public. Any sections of the District's collective bargaining agreements dealing with hiring, promotion, and tenure need to contain a statement of nondiscrimination similar to that in the Board's statement above. In addition, any gender-specific terms should be eliminated from such contracts. A copy of each of the Acts and regulations on which this notice is based may be found in the CO's office.

#### Reports and Complaints of Unlawful Discrimination and Retaliation

Employees are encouraged to promptly report incidents of unlawful discrimination and/or retaliation to an administrator, supervisor, or other District-level official so that the Board may address the conduct. Any administrator, supervisor, or other District-level employee or official who receives such a complaint shall file it with the CO at his/her first convenience.

Employees who believe they have been unlawfully discriminated/retaliated against are entitled to utilize the complaint process set forth below. Initiating a complaint, whether formally or informally, will not adversely affect the complaining individual's employment. While there are no time limits for initiating complaints under this policy, individuals should make every effort to file a complaint as soon as possible after the conduct occurs while the facts are known and potential witnesses are available.

The COs will be available during regular school/work hours to discuss concerns related to unlawful discrimination/retaliation. COs shall accept complaints of unlawful discrimination/retaliation directly from any member of the School District community or a visitor to the District, or receive complaints that are initially filed with a school building administrator. Upon receipt of a complaint, either directly or through a school building administrator, a CO will begin either an informal or formal process (depending on the request of the person alleging the discrimination/retaliation or the nature of the alleged discrimination/retaliation), or the CO will designate a specific individual to conduct such a process. The CO will provide a copy of this policy to any person who files a complaint. In the case of a formal complaint, the CO will prepare recommendations for the Superintendent or oversee the preparation of such recommendations by a designee. All members of the School District community must report incidents of discrimination/retaliation that are reported to them to the CO within two (2) business days of learning of the incident/conduct.

Any Board employee who directly observes unlawful discrimination/retaliation is obligated, in accordance with this policy, to report such observations to one of the COs within two (2) business days. Additionally, any Board employee who observes an act of unlawful discrimination/retaliation is expected to intervene to stop the misconduct, unless circumstances make such an intervention dangerous, in which case the staff member should immediately notify other Board employees and/or local law enforcement officials, as necessary, to stop the misconduct. Thereafter, the CO or designee must contact the employee within two (2) business days to advise him/her of the Board's intent to investigate the alleged wrongdoing.

#### **Investigation and Complaint Procedure (See Form 3122 F2)**

Any employee who believes that s/he has been subjected to unlawful discrimination or retaliation may seek resolution of his/her complaint through the procedures described below. The formal complaint procedures involve an investigation of the individual's claims and a process for rendering a decision regarding whether the charges are substantiated.

Due to the sensitivity surrounding complaints of unlawful discrimination or retaliation, timelines are flexible for initiating the complaint process; however, individuals should make every effort to file a complaint within thirty (30) calendar days after the conduct occurs. Once the formal complaint process is begun, the investigation will be completed in a timely manner (ordinarily, within fifteen (15) business days of the complaint being received).

The procedures set forth below are not intended to interfere with the rights of any individual to pursue a complaint of unlawful discrimination or retaliation with the United States Department of Education Office for Civil Rights or Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC").

#### **Informal Complaint Procedure**

The goal of the informal complaint procedure is to quickly stop inappropriate behavior and facilitate resolution through an informal means, if possible. The informal complaint procedure is provided as a less formal option for an employee who believes s/he has been unlawfully discriminated or retaliated against. This informal procedure is not required as a precursor to the filing of a formal complaint. The informal process is only available in those circumstances where the parties (the alleged target of the discrimination/retaliation and individual(s) alleged to have engaged in the discrimination) agree to participate in it.

Employees who believe that they have been unlawfully discriminated/ retaliated against may proceed immediately to the formal complaint process and individuals who seek resolution through the informal procedure may request that the informal process be terminated at any time to move to the formal complaint process.

All complaints involving a District employee or any other adult member of the School District community against a student will be formally investigated.

As an initial course of action, if an individual feels that s/he is being unlawfully discriminated/retaliated against and s/he is able and feels safe doing so, the individual should tell or otherwise inform the person who engaged in the allegedly discriminatory/retaliatory conduct that it is inappropriate and must stop. The complaining individual should address the alleged misconduct as soon after it occurs as possible. The COs are available to support and counsel individuals when taking this initial step or to intervene on behalf of the individual if requested to do so. An individual who is uncomfortable or unwilling to inform the person who allegedly engaged in the unlawful misconduct of his/her concerns is not prohibited from otherwise filing an informal or a formal complaint. In addition, with regard to certain types of unlawful discrimination, such as sexual discrimination, the CO may advise against the use of the informal complaint process.

An individual who believes s/he has been unlawfully discriminated/retaliated against may make an informal complaint, either orally or in writing: (1) to a building administrator; (2) directly to one of the COs; and/or (3) to the Superintendent or other District-level employee.

All informal complaints must be reported to one of the COs who will either facilitate an informal resolution as described below, or appoint another individual to facilitate an informal resolution.

The School District's informal complaint procedure is designed to provide employees who believe they are being unlawfully discriminated/retaliated against with a range of options aimed at bringing about a prompt resolution of their concerns. Depending upon the nature of the complaint and the wishes of the individual claiming unlawful discrimination/retaliation, informal resolution may involve, but not be limited to, one or more of the following:

- A. Advising the individual about how to communicate his/her concern to the person who allegedly engaged in the discriminatory/retaliatory behavior.
- B. Distributing a copy of Policy **4101** Non-Discrimination as a reminder to the individuals in the school building or office where the individual whose behavior is being questioned works.
- C. If both parties agree, the CO may arrange and facilitate a meeting between the individual claiming discrimination/retaliation and the individual accused of engaging in the misconduct to work out a mutual resolution.

While there are no set time limits within which an informal complaint must be resolved, the CO or designee will exercise his/her authority to attempt to resolve all informal complaints within fifteen (15) business days of receiving the informal complaint. Parties who are dissatisfied with the results of the informal complaint process may proceed to file a formal complaint. And, as stated above, parties may request that the informal process be terminated at any time to move to the formal complaint process.

All materials generated as part of the informal complaint process will be retained by the COs in accordance with the Board's records retention policy. (See Policy 3502)

#### **Formal Complaint Procedure**

If a complaint is not resolved through the informal complaint process, if one of the parties requested that the informal complaint process be terminated to move to the formal complaint process, or if the individual elects to file a formal complaint initially, the formal complaint process shall be implemented.

An individual who believes s/he has been subjected to unlawful discrimination/retaliation (hereinafter referred to as the "Complainant"), may file a formal complaint, either orally or in writing, with a Principal, the CO, Superintendent, or other District-level employee. Due to the sensitivity surrounding complaints of unlawful discrimination and retaliation, timelines are flexible for initiating the complaint process; however, individuals should make every effort to file a complaint within thirty (30) calendar days after the conduct occurs. If a Complainant informs a Principal, Superintendent, or other District-level employee, either orally or in writing, about any complaint of discrimination or retaliation, that employee must report such information to the CO within two (2) business days.

Throughout the course of the process, the CO should keep the parties informed of the status of the investigation and the decision-making process.

All formal complaints must include the following information to the extent it is available: the identity of the individual believed to have engaged in, or be engaging in; the discriminatory/retaliatory conduct; a detailed description of the facts upon which the complaint is based; a list of potential witnesses; and the resolution sought by the Complainant.

If the Complainant is unwilling or unable to provide a written statement including the information set forth above, the CO shall ask for such details in an oral interview. Thereafter, the CO will prepare a written summary of the oral interview, and the Complainant will be asked to verify the accuracy of the reported charge by signing the document.

Upon receiving a formal complaint, the CO will consider whether any action should be taken in the investigatory phase to protect the Complainant from further discrimination or retaliation, including, but not limited to, a change of work assignment or schedule for the Complainant and/or the person who allegedly engaged in the misconduct. In making such a determination, the CO should consult the Complainant to assess his/her agreement to the proposed action. If the Complainant is unwilling to consent to the proposed change, the CO may still take whatever actions s/he deem appropriate in consultation with the Superintendent.

Within two (2) business days of receiving the complaint, the CO or designee will initiate a formal investigation to determine whether the Complainant has been subjected to unlawful discrimination/retaliation.

Simultaneously, the CO will inform the individual alleged to have engaged in the discriminatory or retaliatory conduct (hereinafter referred to as the "Respondent"), that a complaint has been received. The Respondent will be informed about the nature of the allegations and provided with a copy of any relevant policies and/or administrative guidelines, including Policy **4101** - Non-Discrimination. The Respondent must also be informed of the opportunity to submit a written response to the complaint within five (5) business days.

Although certain cases may require additional time, the CO or a designee will attempt to complete an investigation into the allegations of discrimination/retaliation within fifteen (15) business days of receiving the formal complaint. The investigation will include:

- A. interviews with the Complainant;
- B. interviews with the Respondent;
- C. interviews with any other witnesses who may reasonably be expected to have any information relevant to the allegations;
- D. consideration of any documentation or other information presented by the Complainant, Respondent, or any other witness that is reasonably believed to be relevant to the allegations.

At the conclusion of the investigation, the CO or the designee shall prepare and deliver a written report to the Superintendent that summarizes the evidence gathered during the investigation and provide recommendations based on the evidence and the definition of unlawful discrimination/retaliation as provided in Board policy and State and Federal law as to whether the Complainant has been subjected to unlawful discrimination/retaliation. The CO's recommendations must be based upon the totality of the circumstances. In determining if discrimination or retaliation occurred, a preponderance of evidence standard will be used. The CO may consult with the Board's legal counsel before finalizing the report to the Superintendent.

Absent extenuating circumstances, within five (5) business days of receiving the report of the CO or the designee, the Superintendent must either issue a final decision regarding whether the charges have been substantiated or request further investigation. A copy of the Superintendent's final decision will be delivered to both the Complainant and the Respondent.

If the Superintendent requests additional investigation, the Superintendent must specify the additional information that is to be gathered, and such additional investigation must be completed within five (5) business days. At the conclusion of the additional investigation, the Superintendent must issue a final written decision as described above.

If the Superintendent determines the Complainant was subjected to unlawful discrimination/retaliation, s/he must identify what corrective action will be taken to stop, remedy, and prevent the recurrence of the discrimination/retaliation. The corrective action should be reasonable, timely, age-appropriate and effective, and tailored to the specific situation.

The decision of the Superintendent shall be final.

The Board reserves the right to investigate and resolve a complaint or report of unlawful discrimination/retaliation regardless of whether the employee alleging the misconduct pursues the complaint. The Board also reserves the right to have the formal complaint investigation conducted by an external person in accordance with this policy or in such other manner as deemed appropriate by the Board or its designee.

The right of a person to a prompt and equitable resolution of the complaint shall not be impaired by the person's pursuit of other remedies such as the filing of a complaint with the Office for Civil Rights or the filing of a court case. Use of this internal complaint procedure is not a prerequisite to the pursuit of other remedies.

#### **Privacy/Confidentiality**

The School District will employ all reasonable efforts to protect the rights of the Complainant, the Respondent(s), and the witnesses as much as possible, consistent with the Board's legal obligations to investigate, to take appropriate action, and to conform with any discovery or disclosure obligations. All records generated under the terms of this policy shall be maintained as confidential to the extent permitted by law. Confidentiality, however, cannot be guaranteed. All Complainants proceeding through the formal investigation process will be advised that their identities may be disclosed to the Respondent(s).

During the course of a formal investigation, the CO or designee will instruct each person who is interviewed about the importance of maintaining confidentiality. Any individual who is interviewed as part of an investigation is expected not to disclose to third parties any information that s/he learns and/or provides during the course of the investigation.

All public records created as a part of an investigation of a complaint of discrimination/retaliation will be maintained by the CO in accordance with the Board's records retention policy.

#### **Sanctions and Monitoring**

The Board shall vigorously enforce its prohibitions against unlawful discrimination by taking appropriate action reasonably calculated to stop and prevent further misconduct. While observing the principles of due process, a violation of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including the discharge of an employee. All disciplinary action will be taken in accordance with applicable State law and the terms of the relevant collective bargaining agreement(s). When imposing discipline, the Superintendent shall consider the totality of the circumstances involved in the matter. In those cases where unlawful discrimination/retaliation is not substantiated, the Board may consider whether the alleged conduct nevertheless warrants discipline in accordance with other Board policies, consistent with the terms of the relevant collective bargaining agreement(s).

Where the Board becomes aware that a prior remedial action has been taken against an employee, all subsequent sanctions imposed by the Board and/or Superintendent shall be reasonably calculated to end such conduct, prevent its recurrence, and remedy its effect.

#### Retaliation

Retaliation against a person who makes a report or files a complaint alleging unlawful discrimination/retaliation, or participates as a witness in an investigation is prohibited. Specifically, the Board will not retaliate against, coerce, intimidate, threaten or interfere with any individual because the person opposed any act or practice made unlawful by any Federal or State civil rights law, or because that individual made a charge, testified, assisted or participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under those laws, or because that individual exercised, enjoyed, aided or encouraged any other person in the exercise or enjoyment of any right granted or protected by those laws.

#### **Education and Training**

In support of this policy, the Board promotes preventative educational measures to create greater awareness of unlawful discriminatory practices. The Superintendent or designee shall provide appropriate information to all members of the School District community related to the implementation of this policy and shall provide training for District students and staff where appropriate. All training, as well as all information provided regarding the Board's policy and discrimination in general, will be age and content appropriate.

```
M.C.L. 37.2101 et seq., 37.1101 et seq.
Fourteenth Amendment, U.S. Constitution
20 U.S.C. Section 1681, Title IX of Education Amendment Act
20 U.S.C. Section 1701 et seq., Equal Educational Opportunities Act of 1974
20 U.S.C. Section 7905, Boy Scouts of America Equal Access Act
42 U.S.C. 6101 et seq., Age Discrimination Act of 1975
42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq., The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended
34 C.F.R. Part 110 (7/27/93)
42 U.S.C. 2000ff et seq., The Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act
42 U.S.C. 2000e et seq., Civil Rights Act of 1964
29 U.S.C. 701 et seq., Rehabilitation Act of 1973 as amended
29 C.F.R. Part 1635
```

Revised 5/19/14

#### 4201- STUDENT SUPERVISION AND WELFARE

Professional staff members because of their proximity to students are frequently confronted with situations which, if handled incorrectly, could result in liability to the District and personal liability to the professional staff member. It is the intent of the Board of Education to direct the preparation of guidelines that would minimize that possibility.

The Superintendent shall maintain and enforce the following standards:

- A. Each professional staff member shall maintain a standard of care for supervision, control, and protection of students commensurate with assigned duties and responsibilities.
- B. A professional staff member should not volunteer to assume responsibility for duties s/he cannot reasonably perform. Such assumption carries the same responsibilities as assigned duties.
- C. A professional staff member shall provide proper instruction in the safety matters presented in assigned course guides.
- D. Each professional staff member shall report immediately any accident or safety hazard s/he detects.
- E. Each professional staff member shall immediately report knowledge of threats of violence by students to the principal.
- F. A professional staff member shall not send students on any personal errands.
- G. A professional staff member shall not associate or fraternize with students at any time in a manner which may give the appearance of impropriety, including, but not limited to, the creation or participation in any situation or activity which could be considered abusive or sexually suggestive or involve harmful substances such as illegal drugs, alcohol, or tobacco. Any sexual or other inappropriate conduct with a student by any staff member will subject the offender to potential criminal prosecution and disciplinary action by the Board up to and including termination of employment.

This provision should not be construed as precluding a professional staff member from associating with students in private for legitimate or proper reasons. However, dating, romantic and/or sexual relationships with students, regardless of their age and regardless of consent are absolutely prohibited, for a period of one (1) year after student's departure, unless the staff member and student are legally married.

#### 4201 - STUDENT SUPERVISION AND WELFARE (continued)

- H. If a student approaches a staff member to seek advice or to ask questions regarding a personal problem related to sexual behavior, substance abuse, mental or physical health, and/or family relationships, the staff member may attempt to assist the student by facilitating contact with certified or licensed individuals in the District or community who specialize in the assessment, diagnosis, and treatment of the student's problem. Under no circumstances should a staff member attempt, unless properly licensed and authorized to do so, to counsel, assess, diagnose, or treat the student's problem or behavior, nor should such staff member inappropriately disclose personally identifiable information concerning the student to third persons not specifically authorized by law.
- G. A professional staff member shall not transport students in a private vehicle without the approval of the principal.
- H. A student shall not be required to perform work or services that may be detrimental to his/her health.
- J. Staff members shall only engage in electronic communication with students via email, texting, social media and/or online networking media, such as Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, MySpace, Skype, blogs, etc., when such communication is directly related to curricular matters or co-curricular/extracurricular events or activities with prior approval of the principal.
- K. Staff members are prohibited from electronically transmitting any personally identifiable image of a student(s), including video, photographs, streaming video, etc. via email, text message, or through the use of social media and/or online networking media, such as Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, Skype, blogs, etc., unless such transmission has been made as part of a pre-approved curricular matter or co-curricular/extracurricular event or activity such as a school-sponsored publication or production in accordance with Policy 4217.

Most information concerning a child in school other than directory information described in Policy 5309, is confidential under Federal and State laws. Any staff member who shares confidential information with another person not authorized to receive the information may be subject to discipline or civil liability. This includes, but is not limited to, information concerning assessments, grades, behavior, family background, and alleged child abuse.

Pursuant to the laws of the State and Board Policy-<u>5701</u>, each professional staff member shall report to the proper legal authorities immediately, any sign of suspected child abuse or neglect.

M.C.L.A. 722.621 et seq., 750.520b, 750.520c, 750.520d, 750.520e

#### **BOARD RESOLUTION REGARDING AMERICAN WITH DISABILITIES ACT**

#### **Americans with Disabilities Act**

The Tuscola Intermediate School District Board of Education passed a resolution regarding the ADA and the district's compliance with it. The Board of Education and all personnel of Tuscola Intermediate School District will offer reasonable accommodations for all individuals having special needs.

## 5207 - BULLYING AND OTHER AGGRESSIVE BEHAVIOR TOWARD STUDENTS

It is the policy of the District to provide a safe and nurturing educational environment for all of its students.

This policy protects all students from bullying/aggressive behavior regardless of the subject matter or motivation for such impermissible behavior.

Bullying or other aggressive behavior toward a student, whether by other students, staff, or third parties, including Board members, parents, guests, contractors, vendors, and volunteers, is strictly prohibited. This prohibition includes written, physical, verbal, and psychological abuse, including hazing, gestures, comments, threats, or actions to a student, which cause or threaten to cause bodily harm, reasonable fear for personal safety or personal degradation.

Demonstration of appropriate behavior, treating others with civility and respect, and refusing to tolerate harassment or bullying is expected of administrators, faculty, staff, and volunteers to provide positive examples for student behavior.

This policy applies to all "at school" activities in the District, including activities on school property, in a school vehicle, and those occurring off school property if the student or employee is at any school-sponsored, school-approved or school-related activity or function, such as field trips or athletic events where students are under the school's control, or where an employee is engaged in school business. Misconduct occurring outside of school may also be disciplined if it interferes with the school environment.

#### **Notification**

Notice of this policy will be **annually** circulated to and posted in conspicuous locations in all school buildings and departments within the District and discussed with students, as well as incorporated into the teacher, student, and parent/guardian handbooks. State and Federal rights posters on discrimination and harassment shall also be posted at each building. All new hires will be required to review and sign off on this policy and the related complaint procedure.

Parents or legal guardians of the alleged victim(s), as well as of the alleged aggressor(s), shall be promptly notified of any complaint or investigation as well as the results of the investigation to the extent consistent with student confidentiality requirements. A record of the time and form of notice or attempts at notice shall be kept in the investigation file.

To the extent appropriate and/or legally permitted, **confidentiality** will be maintained during the investigation process. However, a proper investigation will, in some circumstances, require the disclosure of names and allegations. Further, the appropriate authorities may be notified, depending on the nature of the complaint and/or the results of the investigation.

#### Reporting

No later than May 30, 2015, the District shall submit to the Department of Education a copy of this Policy.

The District shall report incidents of bullying to the Department of Education on an annual basis according to the form and procedures established by the Department of Education.

Should this Policy be amended or otherwise modified, the District shall submit a copy of the amended or modified Policy to the Department of Education no later than thirty (30) days after adopting the modification.

#### **Implementation**

The Superintendent or designee is responsible to implement this policy, and may develop further guidelines, not inconsistent with this policy.

This policy is not intended to and should not be interpreted to interfere with legitimate free speech rights of any individual. However, the District reserves the right and responsibility to maintain a safe environment for students, conducive to learning and other legitimate objectives of the school program.

#### **Procedure**

Any student who believes s/he has been or is the victim of bullying, hazing, or other aggressive behavior should immediately report the situation to the Principal or assistant principal. The student may also report concerns to a teacher or counselor who will be responsible for notifying the appropriate administrator or Board official. Complaints against the building principal should be filed with the Superintendent. Complaints against the Superintendent should be filed with the Board President.

A student may also submit a report or complaint to any of the above designated individuals through email, voicemail, regular mail or by leaving a sealed note addressed to the individual at that person's office or desk. The student may submit a report or complaint anonymously, but this may affect the ability to fully investigate the matter, when the complaining student is not available to provide additional information during the course of the investigation.

The identity of a student who reports bullying, hazing or aggressive behavior, as well as those students who provide information during an investigation will remain confidential to the extent possible and to the extent allowable by law. Only school personnel directly involved in the investigation of the complaint or responsible for remedying any violations will be provided access to the identity of the complaining student(s) and student witnesses, and then only to the extent necessary to effectively deal with the situation.

The identity of the student who files the report or complaint will not be voluntarily shared with the alleged perpetrator(s) or the witnesses unless the student (and his/her parent/guardian) give written permission to do so. Any investigation report will likewise not be voluntarily produced with the names of the reporting student(s) or witnesses. However, under certain circumstances, the District may be required by law to disclose the report and/or the student(s) names. Also, under certain circumstances, the identity of the reporting student may become obvious even without disclosure by school personnel.

Every student is encouraged, and every staff member is required, to report any situation that they believe to be aggressive behavior directed toward a student. Reports shall be made to those identified above. While reports may be made anonymously, formal disciplinary action may not be taken solely on the basis of an anonymous report without other corroborating evidence.

The Principal (or other designated administrator) shall promptly investigate and document all complaints about bullying, aggressive or other behavior that may violate this policy. The investigation must be completed as promptly as the circumstances permit and should be completed within five (5) school days after a report or complaint is made.

If the investigation finds an instance of bullying or aggressive behavior has occurred, it will result in prompt and appropriate remedial action. This may include up to expulsion for students, up to discharge for employees, exclusion for parents, guests, volunteers and contractors, and removal from any official position and/or a request to resign for Board members. Individuals may also be referred to law enforcement or other appropriate officials.

If, during an investigation of a reported act of harassment, intimidation and/or bullying/cyberbullying, the Principal or appropriate administrator believes that the reported misconduct may have created a hostile learning environment and may have constituted unlawful discriminatory harassment based on a Protected Class, the Principal will report the act of bullying and/or harassment to one of the Anti-Harassment Compliance Officers so that it may be investigated in accordance with the procedures set forth in Policy 4102 - Anti-Harassment.

The individual responsible for conducting the investigation shall document all reported incidents and report all verified incidents of bullying, aggressive or other prohibited behavior, as well as any remedial action taken, including disciplinary actions and referrals, to the Superintendent. The Superintendent shall submit a compiled report to the Board on an annual basis.

#### Non-Retaliation/False Reports

Retaliation or false allegations against any person who reports, is thought to have reported, files a complaint, participates in an investigation or inquiry concerning allegations of bullying or aggressive behavior (as a witness or otherwise), or is the target of the bullying or aggressive behavior being investigated, is prohibited and will not be tolerated. Such retaliation shall be considered a serious violation of Board policy, independent of whether a complaint of bullying is substantiated. Suspected retaliation should be reported in the same manner as bullying/aggressive behavior.

Making intentionally false reports about bullying/aggressive behavior for the purpose of getting someone in trouble is similarly prohibited and will not be tolerated. Retaliation and intentionally false reports may result in disciplinary action as indicated above.

#### **Definitions**

The following definitions are provided for guidance only. If a student or other individual believes there has been bullying, hazing, harassment or other aggressive behavior, regardless of whether it fits a particular definition, s/he should report it immediately and allow the administration to determine the appropriate course of action.

- "Aggressive behavior" is defined as inappropriate conduct that is repeated enough, or serious enough, to negatively impact a student's educational, physical, or emotional well-being. Such behavior includes, for example, bullying, hazing, stalking, intimidation, menacing, coercion, name-calling, taunting, making threats, and hitting/pushing/shoving.
- "At School" is defined as in a classroom, elsewhere on school premises, on a school bus or other school related vehicle, or at a school-sponsored activity or event whether or not it is held on school premises. It also includes conduct using a telecommunications access device or telecommunications service provider that occurs off school premises if either owned by or under the control of the District.
- **"Bullying"** is defined as any written, verbal, or physical acts, including cyber bullying (i.e. any electronic communication, including, but not limited to electronically transmitted acts, such as internet, telephone or cell phone, personal digital assistant (PDA), or wireless hand held device) that, without regard to its subject matter or motivating animus, is intended or that a reasonable person would know is likely to harm one (1) or more students either directly or indirectly by doing any of the following:
- A. substantially interfering with educational opportunities, benefits, or programs of one (1) or more students:
- B. adversely affecting the ability of a student to participate in or benefit from the school district's educational programs or activities by placing the student in reasonable fear of physical harm or by causing substantial emotional distress;
- C. having an actual and substantial detrimental effect on a student's physical or mental health; and/or
- D. causing substantial disruption in, or substantial interference with, the orderly operation of the school.

Bullying can be physical, verbal, psychological, or a combination of all three. Some examples of bullying are:

- A. Physical hitting, kicking, spitting, pushing, pulling; taking and/or damaging personal belongings or extorting money, blocking or impeding student movement, unwelcome physical contact.
- B. Verbal taunting, malicious teasing, insulting, name calling, making threats.
- C. Psychological spreading rumors, manipulating social relationships, coercion, or engaging in social exclusion/shunning, extortion, or intimidation. This may occur in a number of different ways, including but not limited to notes, emails, social media postings, and graffiti.

"Harassment" includes, but is not limited to, any act which subjects an individual or group to unwanted, abusive behavior of a nonverbal, verbal, written or physical nature, often on the basis of age, race, religion, color, national origin, marital status or disability, but may also include sexual orientation, physical characteristics (e.g., height, weight, complexion), cultural background, socioeconomic status, or geographic location (e.g., from rival school, different state, rural area, city, etc.).

"Intimidation/Menacing" includes, but is not limited to, any threat or act intended to: place a person in fear of physical injury or offensive physical contact; to substantially damage or interfere with person's property; or to intentionally interfere with or block a person's movement without good reason.

"Staff" includes all school employees and Board members.

"Third parties" include, but are not limited to, coaches, school volunteers, parents, school visitors, service contractors, vendors, or others engaged in District business, and others not directly subject to school control at inter-district or intra-district athletic competitions or other school events.

For further definition and instances that could possibly be construed as:

Harassment, see Policy <u>5202</u>; Hazing, see Policy <u>5203</u>.

M.C.L. 380.1310B (Matt's Safe School Law, PA 241 of 2011), PA 478 of 2014 Policies on Bullying, Michigan State Board of Education Model Anti-Bullying Policy, Michigan State Board of Education

Revised 10/21/13 Revised 5/18/15

# **APPENDIX**

### Guidelines for Supporting Student Behavior: STANDARDS FOR THE EMERGENCY USE OF SECLUSION & RESTRAINT

**Seclusion** is a last resort emergency safety intervention that provides an opportunity for the student to regain self-control. Seclusion is the confinement of a student in a room or other space from which the student is physically prevented from leaving and which provides for continuous adult observation of the student. A room or area used for seclusion:

- Must not be locked;
- Must not prevent the student from exiting the area should staff become incapacitated or leave that area; and
- Must provide for adequate space, lighting, ventilation, viewing and the safety of the student.

**Time and Duration** – Emergency seclusion (prohibited for pre-school students) should not be used any longer than necessary to allow a student to regain control of his/her behavior, but generally:

- Elementary school students no longer than 15 minutes; and
- Middle and high school students no longer than 20 minutes.
- If an emergency seclusion lasts longer than the suggested maximum time, the following are required:
  - Additional support (e.g., change of staff, introducing a nurse or specialist, obtaining additional expertise); and
  - Documentation to explain the extension beyond the time limit.

**Physical Restraint** is a last resort emergency safety intervention involving direct physical contact that prevents or significantly restricts a student's movement. Restraint is an opportunity for the student to regain self-control. Physical restraint is not intended to forbid actions undertaken:

- To break up a fight
- To take a weapon away from a student
- The brief holding by an adult in order to calm or comfort
- The minimum contact necessary to physically escort a student from one area to another
- Assisting a student in completing a task/response if the student does not resist or resistance is minimal in intensity or duration
- To hold a student for a brief time in order to prevent an impulsive behavior that threatens the student's immediate safety (e.g., running in front of a car)

**Time and Duration** – Restraint should not be used:

- Any longer than necessary to allow students to regain control of their behavior; and
- Generally, no longer than ten minutes
- If an emergency restraint lasts longer than ten minutes, the following are required:
  - Additional support (e.g., change of staff, introducing a nurse or specialist, obtaining additional expertise); and
  - Documentation to explain the extension beyond the time limit

**Reoccurring Behavior** – Should a pattern of behavior emerge, or be anticipated, which may require the use of emergency restraint, the school personnel must:

- Conduct a functional behavioral assessment;
- Develop or revise a PBSP to facilitate the reduction or elimination of the use of restraint;
- Develop an assessment and planning process conducted by a team knowledgeable about the student, including:
  - The parent
  - The student (if appropriate)
  - People who are responsible for implementation of the PBSP
  - o People who are knowledgeable in PBS

**Documentation and Reporting** – Each use of an emergency seclusion and the reason for each use shall be:

- Documented in writing and reported to the building administration immediately;
- Reported to the parent or guardian immediately or as soon as possible; and
- Documented in a written report for each use of seclusion (including multiple uses within a given day) and given to the parent or guardian within 24 hours.

# Arraignment Disclosure Form Tuscola Intermediate School District

Name (Please Print)		
School Name (Please Print)		
School District (Please Print)		
Position (Please Print)		
Date of Arraignment (Please Print)		
Pursuant to Public Act 131 of 2005, I, herebaforementioned date for the criminal offense of	in Court, located in the Sta	
In signing this form, I acknowledge that I understa a violation of Public Act 131 and can result in ac and/or employment.	and that failure to disclose this information	
In signing this form, I acknowledge that I understar or nolo contendere (no contest) nor am I the subject my responsibility to disclose to the court that I am I also understand that if I am subsequently not conjudicial proceedings resulting from that charge, I Department of Education and the employing school	ect of a finding of guilt by a judge or jury, i employed by a school, public or non-pub provicted of any crime after the completion must request, in writing, that the Michig	t is lic. of an
Signature	Date	
Send Form to: Dr. Flora L. Jenkins, Director Office of Professional Preparation Services		

P.O. Box 30008

Lansing, Michigan 48909

#### **CONVICTION DISCLOSURE FORM**

Approved, SCAO	Original - Court 1st copy - Prosecuting Attorney			2nd copy - Superintendent of public instruction 3rd copy - District, school, or academy
STATE OF MICHIGAN JUDICIAL DISTRICT JUDICIAL CIRCUIT	DISCLOSURE OF EMPLOYMENT OR CONTRACT IN MICHIGAN SCHOOL SYSTEM			CASE NO.
Court address				Court telephone no.
		1	Defendant's name ad	dress, and telephone no.
THE PEOPLE OF The State of Michigan				
_	_	_		
Superintendent of public Instruction				
Michigan Department of Education Attn: Superintendent of Public Instru	uction			
PO Box 30008	action			
Lansing, MI 48909				
		l		
prescribed by the state court administration a school district, intermediate school a copy of the form to the prosecuting superintendent or chief administrator of In accordance with MCL 380.1230d(2) having entered a plea of guilty or no contact.	ative office, that he or of district, public school g attorney in charg of the school district, (2), I, Name ontest or having bee	rshe is emplo ool academy, e of the cas intermediate	or nonpublic school e, to the superinte school district, public y by a judge or jury	ely shall disclose to the court, on a form and continuously working under contract if. The person shall immediately provide ndent of public instruction, and to the ic school academy, or nonpublic school.  of a crime, disclose that I am employed school district, public school academy,
Name of superintendent or chief a	administrator			
Name of district, school, or acade	emy			
Street address				
City, state, and zip			_	
ony, orac, and ap				
the prosecuting attorney, to the super	rintendent of public strict, public school	instruction,	and to the superint	and provide copies of this disclosure to endent or chief administrator for every that I am employed by or regularly and
Date		Signa	ture	
		Sigila		

MCL 380.1230d(2), MCL 380.1535a(7)